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Our Vision
RACQ … a must for all Queenslanders.

Our Mission
By 2030, RACQ will be a multi-dimensional 
membership organisation offering 
Queenslanders at least one other reason  
for joining beyond roadside assistance  
and insurance.

Our Purpose
We exist for our members and judge 
everything we do by how well it serves  
their needs. 

Our Philosophy
We are proud to be a mutual, operated for 
the benefit of our owners, the members  
of RACQ. 

Our Values

Generosity of spirit

Being of service

Inspiring trust

Dedication to excellence
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2013/14 Highlights

Decision made to  
freeze standard 
RACQ membership 
fee at $84 (the lowest of 
all Australian motoring 
clubs) for the 2014/15 
financial year.

RACQ inducted into the 
Queensland Business 
Leaders’ Hall of 
Fame in recognition of 
more than a century of 
service to motorists.

More than 1.29 million 
assistance calls 
answered in average  
of 17 seconds.

86 percent of roadside 
jobs attended within  
40 minutes and  
93 out of 100 vehicles 
mobilised at the scene.

94.5 percent of 
members satisfied  
with service quality.

RACQ returns a net 
surplus of $90.2 million 
for 2013/14 year.

RACQ members save 
$67 million in premium 
discounts from their 
club’s insurance arm. 

RACQ Insurance wins 
Socially Responsible 
Performance category 
of the 2013 Asia-
Pacific Banking and 
Finance Awards for 
support of Queensland’s 
community helicopter 
rescue services.

RACQ Insurance 
Queensland’s largest 
motor vehicle insurer 
with 672,634 policies.

RACQ patrols and 
contractors deliver 
and install more than 
140,000 batteries  
to get members  
going again.

RACQ Auto Glass 
performs 52,000 
fitting, repair or 
tinting jobs.

Show Your Card & 
Save program nets 
participating members 
more than $10 million 
in discounts on a wide 
range of goods and 
services.

Federal election 
campaign wins Coalition 
pledge of $6.7 billion 
over 10 years for Bruce 
Highway upgrades.

The RACQ Foundation
approves funding 
totalling $566,688 to  
15 community groups 
in 2013/14.

RACQ invests almost 
$5 million annually 
in Queensland’s 
community helicopter 
rescue services, which 
flew a total of 1500 
missions during the year.

New mobile-friendly 
free2go website 
launched and first  
stage of main website 
to be launched in 
September 2014. 
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We are confident that management across the group is 
taking the steps necessary to guarantee exceptional value  
to members now and, even more, into the future. 

In recognition of the cost pressures on many Queensland 
families and to underline our commitment to value, the 
board decided to freeze the standard RACQ membership 
fee for the 2014/15 financial year. At $84 pa, the standard 
RACQ membership fee remains the lowest of all Australian 
motoring clubs. More details on the provision of member 
value are provided throughout this annual report.

Community contribution
Being Queensland’s largest club brings with it a sense of 
responsibility for RACQ to contribute back to the community 
of our great state. I know that members share our pride 
in the life-saving work of the RACQ Helicopter Rescue 
Network, which now includes all four community services 
in the state. The network was extended during the year 
to include the Sunshine Coast-Wide Bay region following 
RACQ CareFlight’s merger with the Sunshine Coast 
Community Helicopter Rescue Service. Ten rescue  
helicopters painted in RACQ colours now serve 
communities across Queensland. 

Just as gratifying has been the continuing work of the RACQ 
Foundation in contributing to the resilience of Queensland 
communities, with the emphasis in funding applications 
and disbursements in the past year gradually trending from 
assistance to flood-affected regions to those now in the  
grip of drought.

Road safety remained paramount in our advocacy efforts 
in 2013/14. Our expertise and commitment in this field 
was recognised by the Queensland Government with 
grants enabling us to extend P.A.R.T.Y (Prevent Alcohol 
and Risk-related Trauma in Youth) presentations outside 
Brisbane and the expansion of the DocuDrama program 
throughout the state. Both programs aim to contribute to the 
reduction of road trauma among young people by providing 
older teenagers with graphic ‘food for thought’ about the 
consequences of poor decision-making on our roads.

Consolidation
One organisation under one brand, delivering even more 
benefits and value for members, has been a major focus of 
the RACQ board over the past year.

In 2013/14, the board directed a strategy aimed at 
consolidating the RACQ Group organisationally and 
financially, and at ensuring more unified governance –  
and absolute commonality of purpose – across the RACQ 
Group. This included completing the reintegration of RACQ 
Insurance following its return to 100% ownership by RACQ 
in late 2010.

The board also saw consolidation as an essential step to 
ensure the ongoing sustainability of our mutual organisation 
against growing competition. The challenges to our core 
services of roadside assistance and insurance come from 
major commercial organisations, including grocery chains, 
other insurers and car companies, as they seek to enhance 
their offers to customers.

The RACQ board remains committed to ensuring your club 
delivers the world class standards that members – and insurance 
policyholders – have come to expect from RACQ. 

President’s Report

assistance calls answered  
in an average 17 seconds.1.29million



We implemented a strategy 
that we believe will sustain our 
business of helping Queenslanders 
well into the 21st century.
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Technology developments, ranging from almost universal 
ownership of mobile devices to the increasing deployment 
of vehicle telematics, also presented both challenges – and 
opportunities – that demanded a singular and concerted 
approach across the RACQ Group. Joint board strategy 
workshops involving directors and executives of both RACQ 
Limited and RACQ Insurance are held twice per year to 
ensure there is full strategic alignment. 

During 2013/14 the governance and remuneration 
committees of the two boards were consolidated into a  
group committee; and the RACQ Insurance Investment 
Committee and the parent company’s Asset and Corporate 
Committee were merged into a Group Investment 
Committee. These moves enhanced the boards’ ability  
to take a consistent approach to governance and strategy 
across the RACQ Group.

New constitution
Another governance imperative in the year under review 
was to formulate an updated constitutional framework for 
RACQ as a thoroughly modern – and sustainable – mutual 
for the 21st century.

Accordingly, the board will present a proposed new RACQ 
constitution at the annual general meeting in November 2014.  
The new constitution will, most significantly:

• Remove the current restrictive link between 
membership and motor vehicle ownership to allow 
more Queenslanders to join RACQ for assistance 
beyond the roadside;

• Allow members to vote directly on resolutions put to  
a general meeting without proxies; and 

• Permit board appointment of directors with specialist 
expertise, in addition to member-elected regional 
representatives.

Governance
In the past year your club has again been fortunate to be 
served by highly committed and capable directors, who have 
continued to place members’ interests front and centre of 
their deliberations. 

I particularly acknowledge the contribution of Dennis Howe, 
who retired In December after representing Far North  
Zone members for 13 years and chairing the Audit and  
Risk Management Committee for much of his tenure. 

After overseeing the reintegration of RACQ Insurance  
to full RACQ ownership, club Director Richard Pietsch 
stepped down as chairman and director of the RACQ 
Insurance board. He was succeeded as chairman by  
Nigel Alexander in January 2014. Bronwyn Morris joined  
the subsidiary’s board in March 2014 as RACQ’s nominee  
for the vacant directorship.

At the end of my term as RACQ president, I look back 
over more than three years in the role with a good deal of 
satisfaction in dealing with the challenges we have met and 
the advances we have made. 

Considerable capital (more than $375 million) was  
needed to reacquire 100 percent ownership of RACQ 
Insurance and implement a new insurance operating system. 
This constrained our ability over that period to achieve even 
more as we focused on organisational reintegration and 
replenishing our balance sheet over the past few years.  
Now that we have completed this consolidation phase we 
are focusing on leveraging our position to expand and grow 
the club to the benefit of RACQ curent and future members.

To our senior management team, in particular, our Group 
Chief Executive Officer Ian Gillespie, I extend my sincere 
gratitude on behalf of the board and members for the 
outstanding achievements and leadership displayed over the 
past year. I also extend that gratitude to all our dedicated 
staff, agents and contractors, who constantly provide 
members with world’s best practice service. 

I will step down at the conclusion of the 2014 AGM after 
almost 17 years on the RACQ board. It has been an honour 
and a privilege to serve our members over that time. I thank 
board members, past and present, for their support and for 
allowing me to undertake the roles of president and board 
chairman, a privilege I will cherish forever. 

Geoffrey Leddy 
President

President’s Report continued

At RACQ we are committed to ensuring that 
any additional service ‘dividends’ to members 
are sustainable over the long term.
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The award recognised that while RACQ is very much a mutual, 
operating for the benefit of members – not shareholders –  
it is also a shining example of a successful Queensland business. 
Ours is an organisation that has not only sustained and grown 
for 109 years, but has contributed significantly to the state, 
economically and socially, along the way.

Our 2013/14 annual report tells that story in microcosm. 
It illustrates how the RACQ Group continued to provide 
world-class service to more than 1.2 million members  
(our owners) and enhanced the welfare of our community. 
At the same time, we are implementing a strategy that board 
and senior management believe will sustain our business of 
helping Queenslanders well into the 21st century.

That strategy hinges on a closer integration of the assistance 
and insurance arms of RACQ. This is designed not only to 
achieve efficiency and effectiveness improvements but, just 
as importantly, will ensure that all of the knowledge and 
capability that resides within the RACQ Group is directed 
towards providing a compelling membership proposition.

Structural changes to senior management in the past year 
were designed to ensure that the expectations and service 
experience of members and insurance policyholders are 
considered in an integrated way. Considerable effort was 
directed towards designing a new membership architecture 
that – under the proposed new RACQ Constitution –  
will allow us to broaden our membership offering to 
encompass a greater range of personal assistance services 
beyond motor vehicle breakdowns.

Continuing growth in the take-up of our premium 
membership packages (now covering more than 500,000 
members and providing extended personal travel benefits) 
encouraged us to actively explore other ways in which 
RACQ can help when life doesn’t go to plan.

As part of a closer strategic and governance alignment 
between the respective boards, the company secretarial 
operations of RACQ Limited and RACQ Insurance Limited 
were consolidated in January 2014. This was just one 
example of an ongoing, group-wide business process 
improvement program with the objective of delivering both 
external and internal services more cost-effectively while 
maintaining or improving standards.

The full integration of the club and insurance company’s 
stand-alone financial systems has been on the agenda since 
the reacquisition of full ownership of RACQ Insurance in 
2010. This important exercise in eliminating duplication had 
to cede priority to the huge and critical task of developing 
and successfully commissioning our new insurance 
underwriting, pricing and billing system following the 
reacquisition. Great progress has been made in the past year 
towards designing a consolidated financial system, which is 
scheduled to be implemented on 1 July 2015. 

The overall drive for business improvement has also guided 
RACQ Insurance’s review of its motor vehicle repair 
management strategy, an exercise designed to ensure that 
RACQ Insurance premiums continue to be competitive 
in the market, while also providing enhanced policyholder 
benefits. The new approach will be implemented in the 
second half of 2014.

Behind the scenes, we continue to be just as focused on 
the future of service delivery – and the challenges and 
opportunities it presents for RACQ and our members.  
The launch of the upgraded, mobile-friendly free2go website 
for our youngest members was the first output of our 
Connected Member project. 

RACQ’s induction into the Queensland 
Business Leaders’ Hall of Fame in July  
was a fitting finale to the past financial year.

Group CEO’s Report

Funds under management 
now stand at more than1.5billion.$
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Continuing take-up of our premium 
membership packages encouraged 
us to actively explore other ways  
in which RACQ can help.
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A completely revised main RACQ website, allowing 
members and policyholders more opportunity to transact 
business with us via the internet, is scheduled to go online 
progressively before the end of 2014.

Keeping abreast of the rapidly accelerating technology curve 
is no less important in the roadside assistance field. We have 
been leveraging our national and international motoring 
organisation relationships in a $60 million project (shared 
between several Australian clubs) that will eventually replace 
our current computer-aided dispatch system. We are also 
developing a strategy to harness the remote diagnostic 
and repair capabilities of increasingly sophisticated vehicle 
telematics systems, which will be of great benefit to  
our members.

RACQ’s Connected Member program is just one in number 
across the business that we have instituted to maintain 
our competitive advantage across all key business lines. 
Innovation drives our passion to ensure we do not just 
remain relevant for our members but grow our member 
value and give even more reasons for Queenslanders to 
want to be part of our club, the State’s largest.

So, it is not just the online and IT innovation, but new 
products and entirely new business lines that will, in the 
years ahead, provide many reasons to be a member, and 
more opportunities for RACQ to provide services and 
products to members on a weekly, or even daily, basis.  
We also want to ensure we have viable products and 
services for Queenslanders across their entire lives.

These are exciting times at RACQ and, as the world 
changes, we intend to change with it. Our strategic outlook 
remains very positive and growth, not complacency,  
is driving our outlook for the years ahead.

Service
It is important to emphasise that, unlike listed public 
companies (some of which compete with us in either  
the roadside assistance or insurance fields), RACQ does  
not pursue profits to satisfy shareholders with dividends. 
Our aim is to ‘right-size’ our profitability to suit organisational 
objectives, rather than to maximise it. 

As ever, the only ‘dividend’ that mattered to 
us in 2013/14 was ensuring the best possible 
membership experience. 

So there were continuing investments in equipment,  
training and contractor network support for our flagship 
roadside assistance service which, with over 700 dedicated 
vehicles, is a 10-times larger fleet than all our commercial 
competitors combined.

The outcome for members in 2013/14 was:

• More than 1.29 million assistance calls answered  
in an average 17 seconds;

• 86 percent of jobs attended within 40 minutes; and

• A roadside mobilisation rate of more than 93 percent 
(world’s best practice). 

This performance maintained RACQ in the very top tier of 
performance internationally in the roadside assistance field.

In the past year, we had a further 2.9 million engagements 
with members and policyholders through our branches, 
agencies and telephone business centres, all of which are 
proudly located in Queensland. As with roadside assistance, 
we maintained a strong focus on call-answering times and, 
across our distribution network, satisfying the member or 
policyholder’s needs at first contact.

The resultant 94.5 percent overall satisfaction rating from 
the RACQ membership reflects all the more credit on our 
staff and agents when considered against the background 
of organisational restructuring and implementation of new 
systems while ‘business as usual’ was maintained.

Where ‘business as usual’  
often involves going ‘above and 

beyond’, our people applied 
those values in myriad ways in 2013/14.

Group CEO’s Report continued
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Financials
RACQ earned a net surplus of $90.2 million for 2013/14.  
This result exceeded expectations due to a combination of 
the following factors:

• Changing weather (including the onset of drought 
and near-drought conditions across most of the state 
of Queensland), which resulted in reduced roadside 
incidents and lower insurance claims; and

• Favourable experience in RACQ’s management  
of compulsory third party insurance claims,  
which led to a re-assessment of the liabilities held.  
This review also included consideration of the  
prevailing low-inflation environment. 

A contribution to the group surplus also came from our 
group-wide business process improvement program, which 
is not only producing cost-saving efficiencies but, in many 
cases, also enhancing service standards.

Your club is also in a strong financial position, with net assets 
exceeding $1 billion. Funds under management within the 
RACQ Group now stand at more than $1.5 billion –  
of which about $1 billion is held as ‘technical’ reserves  
against the liabilities of RACQ Insurance.

We maintained our conservative approach to general 
investments, with our portfolio of mainly fixed-interest 
securities performing to expectations.

A perusal of the Financial Report for the year ended  
30 June 2104 will provide a better understanding not only 
of the fundamental financial health of the RACQ Group, 
but also our capability to deliver even more value to 
members over time. Shareholder-driven companies can 
vary their returns to owners up and down from year to 
year. However, at RACQ we are committed to ensuring 
that any additional service ‘dividends’ to members are 
sustainable over the long term. That approach will continue 
to determine how we use members’ funds.

RACQ people
Generosity of spirit, being of service, inspiring trust and 
dedication to excellence: in a project last year our staff 
attributed these values to RACQ, confirming that working  
for this organisation is more than just a job for most.

Where ‘business as usual’ often involves going ‘above and 
beyond’, our people applied those values in myriad ways 
in 2013/14. They did it against a backdrop of significant 
structural, system and process changes, which serves to 
reflect all the more positively on the professionalism and 
dedication of our 2000-plus front-line and support staff.

In thanking staff for their support for what we seek to  
achieve now and in future for RACQ and our members,  
I also express my appreciation to our contractors and agents 
helping maintain our presence – and service excellence – 
throughout Queensland.

Finally, I gratefully acknowledge the clear strategic direction 
and support that President Geoff Leddy and the RACQ 
board provided to me, and the RACQ Group’s senior 
executive team, in what has been a highly satisfying year  
of consolidation and planning for an even more  
member-focused future.

 

Ian Gillespie 
Group Chief Executive Officer

These are exciting times at RACQ and, as the 
world changes, we intend to change with it.
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We undertook a total of 904,875 callouts, compared with 
closer to one million every year for most of the past decade. 

Some of the reduction was attributable to a general reprieve 
from the major cyclones and heavy rain that affected much 
of the state in the previous few years, which meant fewer 
weather-related call-outs.

But the lower number of roadside jobs also reflected greater 
success in solving members’ vehicle problems without 
repeat calls – particularly in diagnosing battery problems and 
providing replacement units on the spot.

Patrols and contractors supplied and fitted about 140,000 
RACQ batteries at breakdown scene in the past year, 
providing a convenient and safe solution for members,  
while reducing the need for further call-outs.

Such ‘first-time fixes’ and an overall 93 percent roadside 
assistance mobilisation rate can also be attributed to the 
9346 hours of specialist training in vehicle diagnostics and 
repair equipment provided to 665 personnel during the year.

Just as critical to getting assistance to 86 percent of call-outs  
within 40 minutes (and 96 percent within an hour) were 
business process improvements in the answering of 
members’ calls and the dispatch of assistance.

The increasing use of remote locking in new cars continued 
to generate up to five calls a day for our patrols’ to rescue 
young children accidentally locked in. Such jobs, which 
totalled 1292 in 2013/14, were given absolute priority,  
with two patrols dispatched to scene wherever possible.

During the year we progressively extended the reach and 
availability of our RACQ Auto Glass and RACQ Car Electrics 
services to help members reduce the frustrating vehicle 
down-time associated with automotive mishaps. With a fleet 
of 30 vans, RACQ Auto Glass performed almost 52,000 
fitting, repair or tinting jobs. Providing greater convenience 
to regional members – and contributing to the sustainability 
of our statewide network – Auto Glass services were also 
available through 60 RACQ roadside assistance contractors. 
RACQ Batteries also extended its services to include any-time  
delivery of boat and caravan batteries, helping take total sales 
to 153,013 units.

RACQ’s contracts to provide traffic clearance and incident 
management services for the State Government, Brisbane 
City Council and Queensland Motorways benefited all road 
commuters by helping reduce congestion and improve 
safety on south-east Queensland’s major arteries. They also 
offered members the additional benefit of fully integrating 
with our roadside assistance operations should they require 
our help on a busy motorway.

The safety of members and our roadside assistance 
providers alike remains of paramount importance to RACQ. 
In February 2014 we introduced a recorded message to 
provide motorists calling for assistance via mobile phone 
with tips for staying safe at the breakdown scene. In May, 
we were a leading partner in national Yellow Ribbon Week, 
highlighting the need for motorists to slow down and give 
space to the thousands of police, ambulance, fire and rescue 
personnel and RACQ patrols who risk their lives to help 
others by the roadside.

Changes in technology and motor vehicles, along 
with new business practices, led to a decline in the 
number of roadside assistance jobs in 2013/14. 

Assistance

Other RACQ motoring services in 2013/14 included:

•  19,577 motor 
vehicle 
inspections, 
including both 
pre-purchase and 
warranty expiry 
checks;

•  Launch of a 
statewide 
warranty on 
work performed 
by our 298 
approved 
repairers;

•  3050 driver 
training courses 
delivered to 
corporate and 
private clients 
by RACQ Drive 
Assist; and

•  21,021 inquiries handled by the  
RACQ Motoring Advice team, formed 
by amalgamating our technical and legal 
advisory sections to provide information 
and advice on consumer issues ranging 
from mechanical repair disputes to  
traffic crashes.



93% of vehicles 
 mobilised at the scene.
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In 2013/14, that value again went far beyond its total assets of 
$1544 million and significant contribution to the group surplus. 

The even closer integration of the insurance and assistance 
arms of RACQ contributed to efficiencies across the group 
and heightened effectiveness in sustaining our statewide 
service and sales networks.

RACQ members taking out insurance policies not only 
enjoyed the peace of mind of being insured by a company 
sharing their club’s commitment to service excellence and 
customer focus. They also shared the benefit of $67 million 
in loyalty-based premium discounts.

Last year RACQ Insurance was the winner in the Socially 
Responsible Performance category of the 2013 Asia-Pacific 
Banking and Finance Awards. 

In keeping with its socially responsible approach to business, 
RACQ Insurance was actively involved with government 
and other industry stakeholders throughout the year in 
seeking practical and equitable solutions to the household 
insurance affordability issues that have arisen in the wake of 
Queensland’s recent flood and cyclone disasters. 

In the motor vehicle portfolio, the outcome of a 
comprehensive review of the company’s smash repair 
arrangements in 2013/14 is set to benefit policyholders with 
premiums that reflect improved management of repair costs 
and quality, and better customer service.

In line with the overall RACQ strategy of enhancing the 
membership value proposition, RACQ Insurance explored 
opportunities to offer members an expanded range of 
insurance products.

Some facts and figures about RACQ 
Insurance for 2013/14:
•  Australia’s sixth-largest general 

insurer, despite operating almost 
exclusively in Queensland;

•  Queensland’s largest motor vehicle 
insurer, with 672,634 policies issued;

•  A leading household insurer,  
with 401,796 policies;

•  Provided compulsory third party 
insurance to the drivers of  
638,389 registered motor vehicles;

•  Total premium income of  
$702 million; and

•  99.66 percent of finalised claims 
settled without dispute.

Our wholly owned subsidiary, RACQ 
Insurance Limited, continues to be the  
club’s single most valuable investment.

Insurance
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67million in loyalty-based 
premium discounts shared 
by RACQ members.

$



750,000 
members have belonged to 
RACQ for 10 years or more.

32,638 
members have belonged to 
RACQ for 50 years or more.
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1.2million  
Queenslanders – one in four –  
are members of RACQ.

Despite increasing competition in both the roadside assistance 
and insurance sectors and continuing uncertainty in the 
economy, total membership grew by a net 4775 (0.4 percent)  
to 1,205,478 in 2013/14.

That means one in four Queenslanders is an RACQ member.

Further examination of the membership data underscores 
not only the enviable member loyalty we enjoy, but also an 
increasing willingness among members to invest in enhanced 
levels of RACQ assistance.

More than 750,000 members have belonged to RACQ for 
10 years or more; of them 32,638 are Gold 50 members 
who have continuously supported us for 50 years or more.

In the past year we also recorded continued growth in the 
uptake of our enhanced roadside offerings, which provide 
members with even greater assistance when their vehicles 
break down. The number of members holding Plus Care, 
Ultra Care and RACQ Ultimate passed the 500,000 mark  
in 2013/14 and now account for almost 42 percent of our 
total membership.

A further 155,000 chose to be covered by the extended 
towing allowance offered by Roadside Extra in the past year.

The growing trend for younger people to delay obtaining 
their driver’s licences contributed to a small decline in 
our free2go numbers over the past two years. However, 
125,452 young Queenslanders aged between 16 and 19 
still chose to take advantage of the head-start our youth 
membership program offers to those getting behind the 
wheel for the first time, along with the product and service 
discounts specifically for their age group.

An encouraging trend in 2013/14 was increasing recognition 
of the value of RACQ membership over and above roadside 
assistance. Our Show Your Card and Save program 
rewarded members with total savings of more than  
$10 million on a range of discounted goods and services 
around Australia and overseas – from automotive 
equipment, airport parking and entertainment to household 
appliances and medical insurance. This was up from  
$7.2 million in savings in the previous year.

As Australia’s largest reseller of cinema tickets, with sales of 
more than $2 million, we allowed 410,610 Queenslanders 
to enjoy a cheaper outing to the movies thanks to our 
member discount program. RACQ also remained the 
first port of call for members wanting a family day out at 
Queensland theme parks. A new partnership with Australia 
Zoo delivered not only reduced entry prices for members 
but also zoo shop discounts and premium seating for its 
signature crocodile show.

In total, RACQ sold 156,270 member-discounted theme 
park tickets worth close to $1 million during the year.

Our new Dining Rewards program, launched in August 
2013, enlisted 388 restaurants across Queensland providing 
a minimum 10 percent rebate to members paying with  
Visa Card.

Membership is the lifeblood of any mutual, 
and it continues to flow vigorously through  
the veins of Queensland’s largest club, RACQ.

Membership
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Using the opportunity presented by the September 2013 
federal election, the club promoted its well-researched 
case for large funding injections into Queensland’s national 
highway network through our strategically targeted Demand 
Better Roads campaign.

The outcome was a commitment from the incoming 
Coalition Government of $6.7 billion for the Bruce Highway, 
$508 million for the Warrego Highway, and $700 million 
towards the much delayed Toowoomba Second Range 
Crossing. Complementing undertakings from the State 
Government, these federal contributions should expedite 
the process of bringing much of our major road network up 
to the safe, efficient standard Queenslanders deserve.

But our satisfaction with the election outcomes for roads 
funding was tempered by the Federal Government’s 2014 
Budget announcement of a proposed rise in fuel excise 
and reinstatement of automatic indexation. At the time of 
writing this report, the measure has still to pass the Senate. 
However, RACQ continues to work with our national body, 
the Australian Automobile Association (AAA), to convince 
politicians of all parties not to impose another burden on 
motorists, families, and the economy overall, by further 
increasing historically high fuel prices through extra taxation.

Meanwhile, we took an important step in helping 
Queensland motorists buy their fuel at the best possible 
price with the launch of our on-line Fair Fuel Price monitor. 

The first of its kind in Australia, Fair Fuel Price allows motorists 
to see what is a fair price for fuel at locations across the state 
and where the cheapest fuel is available. This practical advice 
for motorists is also being regularly broadcast by major radio 
and television networks.

We maintained high level contact with the Queensland 
Government at both the political and bureaucratic levels 
to better ensure its policies and actions were focused on 
the safety of all road users, reducing traffic congestion, and 
containing motoring costs. As the government continues to 
honour its commitment to a three-year freeze on vehicle 
registration charges, RACQ will be looking to both major 
parties for similarly positive undertakings to motorists in their 
policies for the next election, expected in early 2015.

Just as pleasing has been the success of our practical 
advocacy efforts in demonstrating the efficacy of the 
Australian Roads Assessment Program (AusRAP) as an 
engineering tool to identify inherent safety defects in our 
highways and suggest cost-effective remedies. In 2013/14 
our road safety team continued to work with Department 
of Transport and Main Roads to align more closely AusRAP 
and the department’s roads assessment methodologies. As a 
result, we should soon have the ability to star-rate for safety 
all roads in the state network, providing potentially life-saving 
intelligence for road engineers and users alike.

Advocacy

Promoting the cause of safe, affordable motoring at least 
cost to the environment continued to form the cornerstone 
of RACQ’s advocacy activities in the past year.

6.7 commitment from the incoming Coalition 
Government for the Bruce Highway as a 
result of RACQ’s pre-election campaign.

billion$



Other significant advocacy activities in 2013/14 included:
•  Successfully lobbying the Australian Competition 

and Consumer Commission to limit major 
supermarket ‘shopper docket’ fuel discounts, 
which were threatening the viability of independent 
retailers – an essential element for a truly 
competitive marketplace.

•  Continuing to work through the AAA to secure 
Federal Government action to regulate and 
standardise fuel prices boards, which tend  
to mislead motorists by failing to highlight  
non-discount pump prices.

•  Acting as a voice of moderation in the often heated 
relationship between motorists and cyclists, 
recognising the right of both groups to use the 
roads while taking mutual responsibility for safety.

•  Highlighting Brisbane’s dubious distinction of being 
one of the most expensive cities in the world in 
which to park. Brisbane’s Lord Mayor subsequently 
established a taskforce to look at all aspects of the 
city’s parking, with RACQ President Geoff Leddy 
appointed to represent motorists.

•  Completing the report on our three-year trial  
of the Mitsubishi iMiEV electric car, with the  
conclusion that limited driving range, high purchase 
costs and lack of recharging infrastructure need to  
be addressed to ensure greater take-up of this 
otherwise practical and environmentally-friendly  
transport mode.

•  A 1800km inspection tour of the Warrego and 
Landsborough Highways between Brisbane and 
Mount Isa, including participation in the Regional 
Roads Forum in Longreach. 

•  Almost a million ‘hits’ on RACQ’s on-line car 
fact sheets. Regularly updated, these fact sheets 
provided easy-to-digest information on  
116 topics, from vehicle purchase and running  
costs to choosing the right fuel and towing tips.



million approved to help  
153 community organisations 
across Queensland.7$
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“In the three years since its inception, the RACQ Foundation 
has provided much needed funds for community 
organisations battling the effects of floods, cyclones and 
drought,” said RACQ Foundation Chairman Richard Pietsch.

“From initial RACQ seed funding of $8 million in 2011, the 
Foundation has since approved more than $7 million to help 
153 organisations across Queensland in assisting their local 
communities recover from a series of natural disasters.

“Funding has been approved for everything from rebuilding 
flood and cyclone-ravaged homes, kindergartens and 
sporting facilities to providing counselling and material 
support to communities suffering from prolonged drought.“

In total, the Foundation approved funding of $566,688 to  
15 community-based groups in the past year. During the year, 
disbursements from the Foundation totalled $1,293,126, 
inclusive of funding approved in 2012/13.

A typical example of how RACQ Foundation support helps 
get communities back on their feet was the $200,000 grant 
in 2013/14 to the Bundaberg Skills Centre. The organisation 
helps Bundaberg’s most vulnerable – those with disabilities 
and mental illnesses – to re-engage with the community and 
secure jobs. It sustained more than $1 million in damage 
when floodwaters submerged the ground floors of its two 
buildings and ruined its fleet of vehicles in January 2013.

A $200,000 donation from the RACQ Foundation enabled 
the centre to employ its clients to assist tradespeople during 
the rebuilding and gain new skills on the way. 

“We’re about employing people, so we employed our 
clients to assist the tradespeople,” said the centre CEO, 
Tanya O’Shea. “The RACQ Foundation donation has been  
a huge assistance to us in achieving that.”

Other RACQ Foundation funding included:

• $103,541 to Tully and District Senior Citizens’ Club to 
help rebuild its hall, flattened by Cyclone Yasi in 2011;

• $84,492 to the One Mile Sports Association in  
Gympie to repair its playground and clubhouse, 
damaged by floods;

• $103,000 to Texas Jockey Club to replace amenities 
destroyed by flooding; and

• $20,000 to the Nanango and District Netball Association 
to refurbish its courts, damaged by the heavy rain from 
Cyclone Oswald in January 2013.

RACQ Group CEO and Foundation Director Ian Gillespie 
said RACQ and its members could be justifiably proud of 
club funds being used, through the Foundation, to support 
community resilience in a state that was no stranger to  
natural disasters.

“It’s not often recognised that the RACQ Foundation’s 
work in helping sustain or rebuild community services and 
infrastructure was made possible by an RACQ donation that 
constituted one of Australia’s single biggest acts of corporate 
philanthropy,” Mr Gillespie said.

“Importantly, the RACQ Group is committed to ensuring 
the Foundation can continue to support Queensland 
communities whenever or wherever the need arises.”

Set up in response to the devastating 2011 floods, the RACQ 
Foundation has now also become a source of financial relief 
for Queensland’s drought-affected communities.

RACQ Foundation

•  RACQ Group CEO, 
Ian Gillespie;

•  Retired RACQ 
Executive General 
Manager Corporate 
Governance, Paul 
Williams; and

The RACQ Foundation 
operates under its  
own board, chaired  
by RACQ Director  
and Past President, 
Richard Pietsch.  
Other directors are: 

•  Queensland University  
of Technology Deputy  
Vice Chancellor  
(Corporate Programs  
and Partnerships), 
Professor Peter Little.

Information on RACQ 
Foundation funding can be 
found at racq.com, call the 
Foundation Administrator 
on 13 1905, or email 
racqfoundation@racq.com.au.
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Helicopter rescue
RACQ invests almost $5 million annually into Queenslanders’ 
health and safety through our sponsorship of all four of the 
state’s community helicopter rescue services.

On July 1, 2013 we extended our sponsored network to 
include the Sunshine Coast Helicopter Rescue Service, 
following that organisation’s merger with RACQ CareFlight. 
Ten RACQ-liveried aircraft and their specialist crews are 
now flying life-saving medical, search and rescue missions 
from bases in Mount Isa, Mackay, Rockhampton, Bundaberg, 
Maroochydore, Toowoomba and the Gold Coast.

Flying more than 1500 rescue missions a year, RACQ 
Helicopter Rescue Network teams are often called on to 
deliver intensive medical care to road crash victims and 
provide rapid transfer to hospitals. Importantly, our regular 
surveying of members tells us that 98 percent of them 
support RACQ funds being used for this purpose.

Road safety education
Our advocacy objective of promoting safe, responsible road 
use to Queenslanders of all ages was again evident in our 
community activities in the past year.

RACQ’s Community and Education team delivered:

• 838 Streets Ahead presentations to 19,765 pupils in  
45 primary schools;

• 45 Kids & Cars presentations to 434 parents and carers;

• 10 Road Safety DocuDramas to 1500 students in  
10 secondary schools; and

• 80 Years Ahead presentations to 3132 older road users.

In addition, RACQ maintained its sponsorship of the Royal 
Brisbane and Women’s Hospital’s P.A.R.T.Y program, in 
which trauma staff provide senior secondary students with 
a first-hand experience of the often tragic consequences of 
unwise road use decisions. 

We gratefully acknowledge State Government grants 
totalling $1.7 million over three years, which allowed us 
to expand the reach of the P.A.R.T.Y program into regional 
Queensland, and a further $160,000 to do the same  
with DocuDramas.

RACQ MotorFest
RACQ MotorFest is now undisputedly Queensland’s largest 
motoring event, with more than 15,000 people turning out 
in July 2013 to Eagle Farm Racecourse, where almost 800 
vehicles – from veteran to modern classic – were on display.

Combined with a market, children’s rides and roving 
entertainment, MotorFest has evolved into a genuine family 
day out contributing $16,000 to the RACQ Helicopter 
Rescue Network in the process.

RACQ Technology Challenge Maryborough
Some 2000 students from 120 schools across Queensland 
took part in the 2013 RACQ Technology Challenge 
Maryborough.

The 24-hour race around the streets of Maryborough in 
human-powered vehicles, designed and raced by teams 
of students, again showcased the ingenuity, teamwork and 
sheer endurance of young Queenslanders.

Helping out in other ways
In 2013/14, RACQ maintained its partnership with the 
Centre for Accident Research and Road Safety (CARRS-Q) 
in presenting the Queensland Road Safety Awards to 
encourage and recognise community initiatives in this field.

RACQ Insurance again sponsored the International Women’s 
Day Fun Run, an annual event creating awareness of breast 
cancer among women of all ages.

As a component of our partnership with Australia Zoo,  
we donated two ex-Roadside Assistance vans to its Wildlife 
Hospital, to be used as specialised animal rescue and 
ambulance vehicles.

Ten RACQ-liveried aircraft and their 
specialist crews are now flying life-saving 
medical, search and rescue missions.

Community
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million in support to the state’s 
four community-operated 
helicopter rescue services. 5$



At the end of 2013/14, the RACQ Group 
directly employed more than 2000 
Queenslanders, with almost 700 more 
working for our agents and contractors. 
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In January 1954, at just 15 years old, Maureen (pictured right)  
took up a position with then RACQ agent Page Motors, 
Pomona, relocating to the Cooroy agency six years later.

At a celebratory morning tea in June this year Maureen 
recalled her early days in the motoring industry, when petrol 
sold for two shillings and sixpence a gallon, around six cents a 
litre in today’s language. 

While record-breaking, Maureen’s length of service is 
otherwise typical of the sort of dedication for which ‘RACQ 
people’ – whether staff, agents or contractors – have long 
been renowned.

At the end of 2013/14, the RACQ Group directly employed 
2009 Queenslanders, with almost 700 more working for 
our agents and contractors across the state. 

The average length of service among our existing staff is 
seven years – an impressive figure in an era characterised  
by short-term job stints. Among our staff and agents,  
146 have worked for RACQ for 20 years or more. 
Reflecting the multi-faceted nature of our organisation 
and the services it offers members, policyholders and the 
wider community, we count teachers, cartographers, road 
engineers, travel agents, journalists, lawyers – and motor 
mechanics, of course – among our ranks.

Against a backdrop of increasing ‘off-shoring’ of call centre 
operations, we’re proud to say all our staff, some 500 of 
them, are employed here in Queensland, to answer your 
phone calls to RACQ.

During the year, the input of our people was critical to 
capturing an authentic representation of what it means to 
work for RACQ when we sought to identify the organisation’s 
values. We’re confident members will agree that the values 
they identified – generosity of spirit, being of service, inspiring 
trust and dedication to excellence – offer a true reflection of 
how our people go about their work.

A lot has changed in the world between 1954 and 2014, 
but not so much for Maureen Hinds, from RACQ’s Cooroy 
Service Centre, who recently celebrated 60 years of service 
to members. 

People

Our values

Generosity of spirit Being of service Inspiring trust Dedication to 
excellence



Our road test team drove 
and evaluated 266 new 
vehicles, for reports and 
reviews in The Road Ahead 
and the annual Australia’s 
Best Cars awards.

A new, improved Mobile 
Member Centre was 
commissioned, ensuring 
RACQ can continue to 
be ‘on the ground’ across 
Queensland, whether 
responding to natural 
disasters or showcasing 
services at a local  
agricultural show.

The 16 staff volunteers in 
our Community Response 
Team maintained their 
readiness to assist in natural 
disaster clean-ups, despite a 
‘quiet’ year on Queensland’s 
weather front.

Almost 4000 of RACQ’s 
most loyal members and 
their guests enjoyed a 
‘cuppa’, cake and a chat with 
us at 16 Gold 50 morning 
and afternoon teas we held 
to say ‘thank you’ in Brisbane 
and regional centres.

Illustrating that RACQ is 
far more than a roadside 
assistance and insurance 
provider, in 2013/14:

Fast Facts
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RACQ Travel’s 36 
consultants booked almost 
7000 international and 
domestic trips for members, 
through a statewide 
network of 12 branches. 

The Road Ahead recorded an annual circulation of 6.3 million, 
with the digital version of our member magazine accounting 
for 945,000 (15 percent) of that number. The Road Ahead 
Lifestyle website attracted a total of 2,701,945 page views for 
the year. Our 13 RA Lifestyle e-newsletters were distributed to 
400,000 subscribers each month. Introduced in April 2014, the 
magazine’s mobile ‘app’ has received positive member feedback 
and was downloaded 2000 times in the first three months.

RACQ TV produced and 
screened via YouTube 63 
short, informative videos 
on a range of motoring 
topics, from road safety to 
how to save on fuel costs. 

RACQ’s main website recorded 9,372,275 sessions. 
Tourism was the most popular section on the website with 
1,973,406 sessions, followed by Insurance with 1,249,598 
sessions. The single most visited area was Fair Fuel Prices 
with 650,949 sessions. Almost a quarter of visits were made 
via mobile devices.

RACQ Finance lent 
almost $23 million for 
cars and other purposes 
at competitive rates for 
members (loans provided  
by R.A.C.V. Finance Ltd).

More than 1.2 million people planned their drive travels  
using our online Trip Planner. RACQ’s online Tourist 
Information Centre – Australia’s first – was accessed more 
than 143,000 times, allowing users to download brochures 
on their chosen Queensland road trips and destinations.  
We distributed 270,000 free hard-copy road maps and 
136,000 guides to members.
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That’s our equivalent of ‘shareholder value’ – and the reason 
why we consistently strive to deliver the very best member 
service we can.

A resounding 94.5 percent of members said ‘yes’ when 
asked if we met their expectations of RACQ Group services 
in 2013/14. Our core services of roadside assistance and 
motor vehicle insurance returned customer satisfaction 
ratings of 99.8 percent and 88.9 percent respectively.

Satisfaction, in turn, creates loyalty – underlined over  
the past year by RACQ’s Net Promoter Score (NPS),  
a standard index measure of how likely a customer is to 
recommend a company, product or service to a friend or 
colleague. RACQ’s NPS of (positive) 60.1 was outstanding 
when compared to the majority of service industries,  
where negative averages are the norm and an NPS of 40  
is considered an excellent result in any sector.

At RACQ we’re proud that the effort we invest in staff 
recruitment, training and maintaining a member-centric 
culture is reflected in both the NPS and overall member 
satisfaction. But it also shines through in the following specific 
member satisfaction scores for 2013/14:

• Friendliness of staff – 98%;

• Enthusiasm of staff – 95.5%;

• Helpfulness of staff – 95.5%; and

• Knowledge of staff – 95.4%.

Combine those figures with 98.3 percent of members who 
regard RACQ as a trustworthy and ethical organisation, and 
we can justifiably consider 2013/14 yet another successful year 
for RACQ by the measures that are most important to us.

Excellent customer service performance against all of the 
above measures also helps ensure RACQ’s robust business 
performance and financial strength. In doing so, we sustain 
the ‘virtuous cycle’ of operating with the mind of a business 
and the heart of a club.

Excellent customer service helps ensure 
RACQ’s robust business performance 
and financial strength.

As a mutual that exists for our members, 
we measure our success by their 
satisfaction with the services we provide. 

Measuring Success

95.5%98.0%
Friendliness of staff Enthusiasm of staff
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95.5% 95.4%
Helpfulness of staff Knowledge of staff



98.3% of RACQ 
members trust their club.
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And there is no doubt that RACQ members trust their club: 
on average 98.3% told us just that when surveyed last year. 

So combining our unrivalled 109-year reputation as a 
motoring services provider with our membership, financial, 
people and network strengths, RACQ is well positioned to 
retain and build on that trust in the future.

However, we recognise that major challenges face us. 
These include increased competition in the roadside assistance 
and insurance markets, and the disruptive technologies that 
are profoundly changing not only the way people interact with 
businesses, but how they drive their cars.

Guided by a 20-year ‘road map’ and a five-year strategic 
plan, we are confident RACQ can respond effectively to 
those challenges. We are determined to create our own 
future, rather than waiting to see what the future holds for 
us, as so many famous but now defunct brands have done  
in the past. 

Critically, our strategy is predicated on the RACQ Group 
being an agile, efficient mutual that continues to differentiate 
itself from competitors on service, quality and trust. 

RACQ is investing in our people and technology to ensure 
we maintain that differentiation. We also plan to preserve 
our pre-eminence in the roadside assistance and insurance 
spheres, continue to improve our overall efficiency and 
effectiveness, create new and more relevant pathways to 
membership, and diversify and grow new revenue streams.

Next year, we expect to be launching some of those new 
ways for Queenslanders to become RACQ members: 
for example, membership that is not linked to vehicles. 
We also expect to introduce new assistance services that 
extend beyond the traditional roadside and insurance areas. 
These new services will be aimed at making our members’ 
everyday lives easier and based on what they’ve told us they 
need, via our regular surveys.

While we expand our services and benefits, members can 
be assured that we will be maintaining our advocacy efforts 
on their behalf as motorists, and continuing our exceptional 
level of support to the Queensland community through 
sponsorships, education programs, and involvement. 

As a mutual, RACQ’s financial strategy is to retain a  
surplus to ensure that reserves are sufficient to provide a 
prudential buffer (to guard against the impact of significant 
financial loss) as well as to support asset renewal and 
strategic growth objectives. 

In the coming financial year, we expect our surplus after tax to 
be considerably lower than that reported for the year ended 
30 June 2014. The reasons this change is expected include: 

• An expected return to average weather conditions that 
will result in increased insurance claims; 

• No extraordinary releases from Compulsory Third Party 
liability reserves; 

• Investment in initiatives to diversify RACQ’s product 
and service offerings and in modern systems to manage 
operations across the group; 

• The impacts of ongoing competition in insurance 
premium pricing and marketing; and

• Our decision to freeze standard member subscription 
fees at $84 pa until 30 June 2015.

Over the next five years, we have also planned to continue 
our substantial investment in replacing our technology 
platforms, with an expected annual expenditure of between 
$35-40 million.

It is important to remember that we are a mutual, and exist 
to benefit our members. The way we achieve that is through 
the provision of value-for-money products and services.  
As a result, our financial model is aimed at long-term financial 
sustainability and the accumulation of financial reserves that 
support the future objectives of RACQ and its members.

As a result, we are confident that 
RACQ is well positioned to enjoy 
ongoing success in the future, and to 
maintain our reputation as a trustworthy 
organisation delivering value-for-money 
member services.

Cars are becoming more reliable, but Queenslanders 
will continue to look to an organisation they can trust 
to assist them when things don’t go to plan. 

Outlook



Good corporate governance 
is a fundamental part of the 
culture and business practices 
of the RACQ Group.
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Corporate Governance Statement
As at 30 June 2014

Good corporate governance is a fundamental part of the 
culture and business practices of the RACQ Group.  
The board has adopted the following corporate governance 
framework to ensure that the interests of members  
are protected.

The RACQ Group
The board of directors is responsible for the governance  
of RACQ and its controlled entities (the RACQ Group).  
The RACQ Group comprises a number of entities that 
enable its effective operation. The key entities are:

• The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited 
(RACQ), the parent entity of the Group, is a mutual 
owned by more than 1.2 million RACQ members;

• RACQ Insurance Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary 
within the Group, providing insurance products. RACQ 
Insurance is a separate legal entity, regulated by the 
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority with its own 
board of directors;

• RACQ Operations Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary 
within the Group that acts as the main trading and 
contracting entity for RACQ; and

• RACQ Foundation Pty Ltd, RACQ Foundation Fund and 
RACQ Foundation Trust, independently run charitable 
entities that deliver community funding into Queensland.

The board of directors

Roles and responsibilities of the board

The board has adopted a formal charter that details the 
functions and responsibilities of the board. 

The board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that the 
RACQ Group achieves its corporate and operational 
objectives ethically, responsibly and within its legislative  
and regulatory obligations. As RACQ is a mutual 
organisation, the board is committed to returning value  
and benefit to members. 

Specifically, the board of RACQ has determined that its role 
is to govern, guide and direct the RACQ Group, primarily 
through the board’s key relationship with the Group Chief 
Executive Officer (Group CEO), towards the effective 
achievement of RACQ’s role and objects in the  
interests of the collective members of RACQ as set  
out in RACQ’s constitution. 

RACQ is committed to operating its business ethically 
and with high standards of corporate governance, 
applied appropriately to RACQ’s circumstances. 

FRAMEWORK

A highly skilled and 
experienced board with  
all independent directors

External legislation, 
standards and codes

Internal policies and 
procedures

A competent and diverse 
management team

ASSURANCE

Strong internal and external 
audit functions

Clear accountability and 
reporting lines

The RACQ governance framework is designed to accommodate the operational and regulatory frameworks 
within which RACQ operates:

Members

Group CEO

RACQ board

Group Executive Team

Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee

Group Governance 
and Remuneration 

Committee

Group 
Investment 
Committee
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A number of directors hold positions on more than one 
board across the Group. This crossover ensures that each 
board has an awareness of RACQ Group operations, and 
that decision-making is undertaken with a holistic view and is 
in line with Group strategy, direction and values.

Board processes

The board has scheduled meetings throughout the year plus 
two strategy sessions and also out-of-session meetings for 
extraordinary matters as required. Meeting agenda items 
include strategy, financial matters and major risk areas. 
Directors apply their independent judgment in decision-
making when considering these items. 

The Chairman, Group CEO and Group Company Secretary 
determine the agenda for each board meeting. Standing 
items include the Group CEO’s report, a financial report, 
strategic matters, and risk management. Board papers are 
circulated in advance of meetings. Senior executives attend 
board and committee meetings as required and the board 
has the opportunity to interact with auditors and a range  
of Group management and staff throughout the year.

When required for urgent out-of-session matters,  
the board can also make decisions by way of a circulating 
written resolution.

Board composition 

The RACQ constitution provides for members to have 
representation on the RACQ board from across the state 
and sets the minimum number of directors on the board 
as six. Details of the skills, experience and expertise of each 
RACQ director in office at the date of this report are set  
out on pages 40 to 43. All directors are independent,  
non-executive directors.

The constitution of the company provides that directors 
retire at pre-determined intervals of approximately every 
four years. Retiring directors are eligible for re-election 
subject to certain conditions specified in the constitution.  
The board has also adopted a policy that directors, with 
some exceptions, are not eligible for re-election or 
appointment to the board where that director has already 
served a cumulative total of 12 years from the date of the 
AGM in which the director was first elected as a director of 
the company, unless the board resolves otherwise.

Role of the chairman

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the board 
and ensuring the board performs its roles and functions. 
The Chairman is also responsible for facilitating the effective 
contribution of directors by encouraging each director to fully 
participate in the board’s activities.

Director appointments 

Mr Dennis Howe resigned from the RACQ board on  
31 December 2013. Mr Howe’s resignation created a  
casual vacancy on the board in the Far North Zone. 

The constitution permits the appointment of new directors 
by the board to fill casual vacancies. The board has also 
adopted an Appointment and Succession Policy for Group 
Boards to clarify the roles and responsibilities in the 
appointment process. In accordance with this policy, the 
Group Governance and Remuneration Committee made 
a recommendation to the RACQ board regarding the 
preferred candidate to fill the vacancy created by Mr Howe’s 
resignation. The Group Governance and Remuneration 
Committee also maintains a directors’ skills, competencies 
and experience matrix to inform the appointment process 
and facilitate the review of the board’s skills as a whole.

Mr Campbell Charlton was appointed to the board in the 
Far North Zone in accordance with the constitution and the 
Appointment and Succession Policy for Group Boards on  
22 May 2014.

The board has adopted formal letters of appointment for 
incoming directors setting out key terms and conditions of 
new appointments.

Independence of the RACQ board

All directors on the RACQ board are independent, non-
executive directors. In assessing the independence of each 
director, the board considers whether any relationships exist 
that would materially affect the director’s ability to exercise 
unfettered and independent judgment in the interests of 
RACQ and its members. 

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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RACQ Group board members

RACQ directors

Geoff Leddy (Chairman)
Nigel Alexander (Deputy Chairman)
Fay Barker
Campbell Charlton (appointed 22 May 2014)
Anthony Gambling
Dennis Howe (retired 31 December 2013)
Elizabeth Jameson
Stephen Maitland
Bronwyn Morris
Karl Morris
Richard Pietsch 

RACQ Insurance directors

Richard Pietsch (retired as director and Chairman  
31 December 2013)
Nigel Alexander (appointed Chairman 1 January 2014)
Ian Gillespie (Group CEO)
Neville Ide
Raymond Jones
Geoff Leddy
Stephen Maitland
Bronwyn Morris (appointed 5 March 2014)
Melvyn Tozer

Induction and continuing education

The board has adopted a formal induction process for 
incoming directors. New RACQ directors undergo an 
induction program that includes the provision of company 
documentation, discussions with the Chairman and 
committee chairs, an induction session with the senior 
management team and separate briefings by the Group 
CEO and the Group Company Secretary, and undertaking 
of operational familiarisation activities with an emphasis on 
key services functions such as roadside assistance and the 
insurance division.

All RACQ directors are encouraged to undertake annual 
continuing professional development and are assisted to 
attend industry seminars and educational courses that serve 
to enhance their performance as directors. Membership 
of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
participation in the institute’s courses on the role and duties 
of directors are encouraged. 

Continuing directors also participate in operational 
familiarisation programs to maintain and enhance their 
understanding of the business.

The board holds two continuing professional development 
sessions coordinated with assistance from management to 
develop an understanding of key governance functions and 
other significant operating matters, such as reinsurance, 
corporate insurance and workplace health and safety.

Access to independent professional advice

Each director, subject to prior approval of the Chairman, 
may seek independent professional advice in connection with 
the discharge of their duties as directors. The RACQ Group 
will pay the cost of this independent advice.

Board committees

Board committees overview

The key boards have established committees that assist 
them to discharge their responsibilities and increase 
their effectiveness. The roles and responsibilities of each 
committee are set out in the respective committee charters, 
which are regularly reviewed.

RACQ board

Audit and Risk Management Committee 
Group Governance and Remuneration Committee
Group Investment Committee

RACQ Insurance board

Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
Group Governance and Remuneration Committee
Group Investment Committee
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A key development in the governance of the RACQ 
Group was the establishment of the Group Governance 
and Remuneration Committee and Group Investment 
Committee in 2013.

The Group Governance and Remuneration Committee 
was formed by amalgamating the two Governance and 
Remuneration Committees of the RACQ and RACQ 
Insurance boards and is responsible for governance and 
remuneration matters within the Group. The committee 
also acts as the nomination committee and oversees the 
selection and appointment process for new directors as  
well as the composition of boards and committees. 

The Group Governance and Remuneration Committee 
consists of the following members: Bronwyn Morris (chair, 
RACQ appointee), Nigel Alexander (RACQ Insurance 
appointee), Elizabeth Jameson (RACQ appointee),  
Raymond Jones (RACQ Insurance appointee) and  
Geoff Leddy (RACQ Insurance appointee).

The Group Investment Committee was formed by 
amalgamating the Asset and Corporate Committee of the 
RACQ board and Investment Committee of the RACQ 
Insurance board and has oversight duties in relation to 
investment policy and portfolio across the RACQ Group. 

The Group Investment Committee consists of the  
following members: Anthony Gambling (chair, RACQ 
appointee), Neville Ide (deputy chair, RACQ Insurance 
appointee), Fay Barker (RACQ appointee), Raymond Jones  
(RACQ Insurance appointee), Karl Morris (RACQ 
appointee), and Richard Pietsch (RACQ appointee).

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has areas of 
responsibility in audit (internal and external), compliance and 
risk management. 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee consists of the 
following members: Elizabeth Jameson (chair), Campbell 
Charlton, Stephen Maitland and Bronwyn Morris.

Committees meet at least four times per annum with further 
meetings held for extraordinary matters. Details of the 
meetings and attendance of each committee are outlined  
on pages 46 to 47.

Ethical and responsible decision making

Code of conduct

All directors, senior management and employees are 
required to conduct themselves with the highest ethical 
standards of corporate behaviour. Codes of conduct have 
been adopted and are provided to directors and employees 
to guide decision-making in day-to-day work. 

The director code of conduct requires directors to behave 
ethically, act within the law, avoid conflicts of interest, and 
act honestly in all business activities. The employee code of 
conduct sets out the principles and standards with which all 
employees are required to comply in the performance of 
their respective functions.

Conflicts of interest 

Directors are expected to avoid any action, position or 
interest that conflicts or appears to conflict with an interest of 
the RACQ Group. This is a matter for ongoing consideration 
by all directors and the board. Any director who has a 
material personal interest in a matter relating to the group’s 
affairs must notify the other directors of that interest.

The board has adopted a Conflicts of Interest Policy and 
procedure and reviews directors’ declarations of interests  
at least annually.

Whistleblowing and staff reporting

RACQ strongly values trust, integrity and honesty, and has 
a stringent approach to inappropriate behaviour such as 
unethical or fraudulent conduct, regulatory non-compliance 
and unsafe work practices. A Group Whistleblower Policy 
and a whistleblower hotline have been adopted to enable 
staff to confidentially report such conduct without fear of 
being personally disadvantaged by making such a report. 

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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Employees are also encouraged to bring any employment-
related grievances, discrimination or harassment to the 
attention of management or the Human Resources division.

Communication

Regular communication

To carry out its responsibility to govern on behalf of 
members, the RACQ board recognises the importance of 
members receiving relevant information in a timely manner. 

Members receive information from RACQ through 
distribution of The Road Ahead magazine, the annual report, 
the Chairman’s address to the annual general meeting, 
regular members’ newsletters, media releases, social media 
and the RACQ website.

Copies of all media releases and the RACQ annual report 
are posted on RACQ’s website. 

Annual general meeting

Members have the opportunity to raise matters with the 
RACQ board at the annual general meeting. The External 
Auditor attends the annual general meeting and is available  
to answer questions from members regarding the conduct  
of the audit, the auditor’s independence, the preparation  
and content of the auditor’s report, and accounting  
policies adopted by RACQ for the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

Risk management

Risk oversight

On behalf of the board, the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee oversees the framework and risk management 
performance to ensure that risk is managed. Management 
regularly reports to the board, through the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee, as to the Group’s risk profile, 
emerging risk issues, risk management performance, 
risk culture, and the suitability of the risk management 
framework.

Risk profile

Management is required to provide bottom-up management 
of the risk profile of RACQ, which culminates with the 
Group Risk Register, which is provided to the board at each 
meeting, and considered in detail by the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee each quarter. 

This reporting includes analysis of risks’ trends, control 
effectiveness, and profile impacts caused by the changing 
external environment. 

RACQ has specific policies and processes that deal with 
the key areas of strategic risk, financial risk, operational risk, 
and compliance risk. These cover areas such as financial 
management, business operations, human resources 
requirements, compliance and regulatory obligations, 
business continuity, whistleblowing, and workplace health 
and safety.

Each division is responsible for the effective management 
of the risk that it is exposed to, with devolution of risk 
management responsibility to each layer of management as 
appropriate. The Group Executive Committee considers 
the risk profile at each monthly meeting. Managers are 
responsible for the management of risk they control.

Internal audit 

Internal Audit has a direct reporting line to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee and supports the board by 
the provision of assurance services in response to priorities 
and requirements directed by the board. The Audit and 
Risk Management Committee is responsible for making 
recommendations to the board regarding the appointment, 
remuneration and dismissal of the head of Internal Audit.

Statement by Group CEO and Group CFO
As part of the RACQ board approval of the RACQ Group 
annual financial report, both the Group CEO and Group 
Chief Financial Officer are required to state to the RACQ 
board, in writing, that the financial report presents a true 
and fair view, in all material respects, of the entity’s financial 
condition and operational results and is in accordance with 
relevant accounting standards.

Remuneration and performance

Remuneration of directors and management

Under the RACQ constitution, the members determine  
the maximum aggregate annual remuneration payable to 
RACQ directors.

The RACQ board determines the structure of payments to 
directors to ensure an appropriate and equitable distribution 
occurs. RACQ Insurance directors are remunerated by 
RACQ Insurance. Details of individual director remuneration 
levels are provided on pages 94 to 95.
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Directors are entitled to be paid reasonable travelling and 
other expenses incurred in connection with attendances at 
board and committee meetings, or otherwise in connection 
with the business of RACQ.

The board has adopted a Group Remuneration Policy 
and a Group Remuneration Framework to govern how 
senior management and employees are remunerated and 
rewarded for their contribution and achievement in the 
organisation. The main principles of these are:

(a) To provide competitive rewards to attract, motivate 
and retain the talent required for sustainable business 
performance and growth, which are reflective of 
relevant and current market practices; and 

(b) To balance fixed and variable (short and long term) 
reward to encourage behaviour that supports the 
long-term strategic development, sustainability, risk 
management and financial soundness of RACQ.

Senior management remuneration is determined by 
reference to market information supplied by an  
independent expert.

Board assessments

The boards have adopted an assessment process to 
measure their own performance and the performance of the 
committees each financial year. 

The evaluation process includes input from all directors  
and management with a view to improve governance.  
The process also allows for the use of external facilitators 
at least every five years to review the effectiveness of 
governance processes. 

Senior management assessments

RACQ has in place a formal performance management 
system for all members of senior management. Half-yearly 
each member of senior management discusses his or 
her performance with the Group CEO. A performance 
evaluation for all members of senior management took place 
for the reporting period in accordance with this system.  
The board is responsible for assessing the performance of 
the Group CEO and conducts a review of performance on 
an annual basis. 

Website
Information about the RACQ board and the RACQ 
constitution and by-laws can be found on the RACQ  
website racq.com under the heading About.

Corporate Governance Statement continued
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All directors, senior management 
and employees are required to 
conduct themselves with the 
highest ethical standards.
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RACQ Directors and Officers

President and Chairman and member of 
the Group Governance and Remuneration 
Committee (director, Wide Bay-Sunshine 
Coast Zone, since 1998). Mr Leddy has 
extensive experience as a consulting engineer 
and company director and is chairman of Club 
Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd and also a director 
of RACQ Insurance Limited and the Australian 
Automobile Association.

Member of the Group Investment Committee (director, 
North Zone, since 2001). Ms Barker is chairperson of the 
Townsville Hospital Foundation and is a former Townsville 
City councillor. Her other current directorships include 
Marathon Consolidated Limited, the Townsville Crocodiles 
Basketball Club Ltd, chair of the Benefactors of the Good 
Shepherd Nursing Homes Limited and chair of the Virginia 
Chadwick Memorial Foundation. Ms Barker is a former 
director of the Townsville Port Authority and the Great Barrier 
Reef Marine Park Authority and a former member of the 
James Cook University Council.

Geoffrey C Leddy  
BTech(Civil), LGE, GDM, FAICD

Vice President and Deputy Chairman, and 
member of the Group Governance and 

Remuneration Committee (director, South 
East Zone, since 2000). Chairman of 

RACQ Insurance Limited and a director of 
Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd.  

Mr Alexander is the current Chief 
Executive Officer of North Australian 

Pastoral Company Pty Limited. He is a 
qualified accountant, having previously 

worked in corporate finance roles with 
both Australian and international banks.

Nigel WF Alexander  
BBus, MAppFin, FCPA, FAICD

Fay L Barker 
OAM, FAICD

Member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (director, Far North Zone, since 2014). 

Mr Charlton has a 35-year career as a chartered 
accountant and corporate advisor. He is a member 

of the James Cook University Council and the 
Queensland Government’s Commonwealth Games 

Embracing 2018 Committee. He is a former chairman 
of the Tourism Tropical North Queensland and 

Advance Cairns Limited. He was also chairman of the 
judging panels of both the Australian Tourism Awards 

and the Queensland Tourism Awards.

Campbell J Charlton  
BCom, LL.B, FCA (Rtd), MAICD

(Appointed in May 2014)
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Chair of the Group Investment Committee (director, 
Central Zone, since 2005). Mr Gambling is general 
manager of Mango 4 Office Technology and a former 
director of companies involved in the commercialisation 
of emerging technologies. He sits on the Central 
Queensland Committee of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and the QLD Small Medium 
Enterprise Committee of CPA Australia, and is vice-
president of the Central QLD Rugby Union.

Member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee (director, 
South East Zone, since 2008). Mr Maitland has a background in 
finance and accounting, is a qualified accountant and company 
secretary, and the principal of corporate advisory firm Delphin 
Associates. He was chief executive officer of the Queensland Office 
of Financial Supervision (1992 to 1999) and had a 20-year career in 
corporate banking. Mr Maitland is also a director of RACQ Insurance 
Limited, Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd, Australian Unity Limited, 
Centrepoint Alliance Limited, and several private companies.

Anthony (Tony) M Gambling  
BBus, BEcon, MBA, CPA, FAIM, FAICD, JP (Qual)

Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and 
member of the Group Governance and Remuneration 

Committee (director, South East Zone, since 2008). 
Ms Jameson is the principal and founder of corporate 

governance consultancy Board Matters Pty Ltd and 
associated firm Board Matters Legal (since 2002).  

Ms Jameson is a former partner with national law firm 
Deacons (corporate/commercial division) and is chair of 
Brisbane Girls Grammar School. In April 2010 she also 

became a member of the Federal Government-appointed 
Board of Taxation and in May 2013 was appointed to the 

board of the Queensland Theatre Company.

Elizabeth M Jameson  
LL.B (Hons1), BA, FAICD, FAIM, MQLS

Chair of the Group Governance and Remuneration 
Committee, and member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (director, South East Zone, since 2008). Director 

of RACQ Insurance Limited and Club Insurance Holdings 
Pty Ltd. Ms Morris specialised for more than 20 years as a 

chartered accountant in audit and corporate services.  
Ms Morris is a Queensland councillor of the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors and is chairman of the Finance and 
Audit Committee of the Gold Coast 2018 Commonwealth 

Games Corporation. She now serves as a director of a 
number of entities, including LG Super, Children’s Health 

Foundation Queensland and Collins Foods Limited.

Bronwyn K Morris  
BCom, FCA, FAICD

Stephen J Maitland  
OAM, RFD, BEc, MBus, LLM, FAICD, FCPA , FCIS, FAIM , SFFin
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RACQ Directors and Officers continued

Member of the Group Investment Committee (director, 
South East Zone, since 2010). Mr Morris is executive 
chairman of Ord Minnett Limted and has a 26-year career 
in financial services and wealth management. Mr Morris 
is chairman and master member of the Stockbrokers 
Association of Australia Ltd, chairman of QSuper, member 
of the Catholic Foundation Archdiocese of Brisbane, board 
member of Queensland Theatre Company, member of the 
Brisbane Lord Mayor’s Business Advisory Board, and also 
serves as a director of Notre Dame University of Australia.

A member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee until his retirement (director,  
Far North Zone, from 2001 until 31 December 2013).  
Mr Howe is managing director of Aus Mining 
Personnel Pty Ltd and the honorary Swedish consul 
for North Queensland. Mr Howe’s previous roles 
include managing director Skywest and East-West 
Airlines, deputy chief executive officer Australian 
Airlines, chairman Skytrans Airlines, and board 
member Cairns Port Authority.

Member of the Group Investment Committee (director, 
South West Zone, since 1997), chairman of RACQ 

Foundation Pty Ltd and a former president and chairman 
of RACQ, former chairman of RACQ Insurance Limited 

(retired 31 December 2013) and former director of 
Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd (retired 20 March 2014). 
As a grazier, Mr Pietsch is also a director of the Australian 
Stud Sheep Breeders Association Limited and president 
of Agforce Sheep and Wool Board. He is also a director 

of Coolmunda Pastoral Company and Qld Agricultural 
Training Colleges. He is a former deputy chairman of the 

Inglewood Shire Council.

Richard J Pietsch  
OAM, FAICD

Mr Gillespie is a director of RACQ Insurance Limited, Club 
Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd, RACQ Foundation Pty Ltd, 

RACQ Operations Pty Ltd and other RACQ Group entities.  
Mr Gillespie is also a director of Club Assist Corporation 

Pty Ltd, Australian Automobile Association, Australian Club 
Consortium Pty Ltd, Australian Motoring Services Pty Ltd, 

Confederation of Australian Motor Sport, and Tourism and 
Events Queensland, and a member of the board of the 

Global Mobility Alliance. Mr Gillespie has over 30 years’ 
experience in a broad range of industries in Australia and 

internationally at CEO and senior executive level.

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Ian A Gillespie  

BA, Dip Laws(BAB), FCEOI, MAICD, FAIM, CCEO

Karl D Morris  
BCom, MSAA, FAICD, FFin

Dennis G Howe  
OAM, FAIM (retired 31 December 2013)
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GROUP COMPANY SECRETARY
Bradley D Bowes  
PhD, FGIA, FCIS, MAICD 

Mr Bowes is company secretary for all the legal entities 
within the RACQ Group and heads the Group Secretariat 
with responsibility for group-wide corporate governance 
matters, including managing all matters associated with the 
efficient operation of the various boards, committees and 
their meetings. Mr Bowes is a chartered company secretary 
with over 20 years’ experience in senior management and 
similar governance roles in both private enterprise and the 
public sector, across a range of industries.

Mr Bowes was appointed Group Company Secretary in 
December 2013, following Mr Paul Williams’ retirement.  
Mr Williams practised as a solicitor for more than 25 years 
and was Executive General Manager Corporate Governance 
at RACQ until his retirement.

One organisation under one 
brand, delivering even more 
benefits and value for members.

Group leadership team

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Ian A Gillespie BA, Dip Laws(BAB), FCEOI, MAICD, FAIM, CCEO

CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER

Gregory R Booker MBA, MMgmnt, GAICD

RACQ INSURANCE LIMITED CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Bradley P Heath B.Bus Acc, GAICD

GROUP CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Leanne M Muller BCom, GDip Fin & Inv, ACA, MAICD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, OPERATIONS

Glenn A Toms BBus, GDip Fin & Inv, FFin, FAIM, GAICD

CHIEF DEVELOPMENT OFFICER

Christopher P Walsh BCom
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Directors
The following persons were directors of RACQ during the 
whole of the financial year and until the date of this report, 
except where otherwise indicated:

• Geoffrey C Leddy (Chairman);

• Nigel W F Alexander (Deputy Chairman);

• Fay L Barker;

• Campbell J Charlton (appointed 22 May 2014);

• Anthony M Gambling;

• Dennis G Howe (retired 31 December 2013);

• Elizabeth M Jameson;

• Stephen J Maitland;

• Bronwyn K Morris; 

• Karl D Morris; and

• Richard J Pietsch.

Further information on the current RACQ directors is 
contained in the RACQ Directors and Officers section of this 
Annual Report on pages 40 to 43. This section also includes 
their qualifications, experience and particular responsibilities.

Directors’ meetings
The number of RACQ board meetings and its committee 
meetings, and each RACQ director’s attendance at those 
meetings during the financial year, are set out on pages  
46 to 47.

Officers
The persons who were officers of RACQ during the financial 
year are detailed in the RACQ Directors and Officers section 
of this Annual Report on pages 40 to 43.

Strategy and objectives
RACQ’s primary objective, in both the short and the 
long term, is to sustainably maximise the value of benefits 
provided to its members. To achieve this, RACQ regularly 
reviews the range and structure of its products, services, 
benefits and advocacy strategies. 

In addition, RACQ pursues a number of growth and 
diversification strategies to further expand and deepen  
these, and to ensure that all products, services, benefits  
and advocacy remains meaningful, relevant and compelling.

RACQ measures its performance against its objectives with 
a range of indicators, including member satisfaction rates, 
member retention rates, financial health, and the utilisation  
of products and services by members.

Principal activities 
The principal activities of RACQ during the year included the 
provision of motoring, insurance, membership and advocacy 
services and these are detailed in the President’s Report 
and the Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report. These 
activities assist RACQ in achieving its objectives by continuing 
to provide its members with the many benefits they have 
previously received, and by building RACQ’s capacity to 
improve on these in the future.

Review of operations  
(Operating and financial review)
The net results of operations of RACQ and controlled 
entities, after tax and after making adequate provision for 
depreciation and all known contingencies, was a surplus of 
$90.2 million (2013 – surplus of $36.0 million). 

A review of operations is contained in the President’s  
Report and the Group Chief Executive Officer’s Report, 
including membership, assistance products and services, 
roadside assistance, insurance, advocacy, travel, touring  
and community activities. 

Events subsequent to reporting date
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the 
opinion of the directors of RACQ, to affect significantly the 
operations of RACQ, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of RACQ, in future financial years.

Directors’ Report

The directors present their report together with the consolidated 
financial report of the group comprising The Royal Automobile 
Club of Queensland Limited (RACQ) and its controlled entities,  
for the year ended 30 June 2014 and the auditor’s report thereon.
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Directors’ interests
Since the previous year, no director of RACQ has received 
or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than a benefit 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received 
or receivable by RACQ directors shown in the notes to the 
accounts) by reason of a contract made by RACQ or a related 
corporation with a director or with a company in which he or 
she has a substantial financial interest. 

Directors may obtain membership, insurance services and 
other services from the RACQ Group on the same terms 
and conditions as those obtained by all employees. 

Environmental regulations
RACQ’s operations are not subject to any significant 
environmental regulations under either Commonwealth 
or State legislation. However, the directors believe that 
RACQ has adequate systems in place for the management 
of its environmental requirements and are not aware of any 
breach of those environmental requirements as they apply 
to RACQ.

Indemnification and insurance of officers  
and auditors
RACQ has entered into an agreement with all current 
directors, some former directors and certain present and 
former executives of RACQ to indemnify them to the extent 
permitted by law against all liabilities that may arise from their 
position in RACQ or a controlled entity of RACQ.

RACQ holds a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance 
policy on behalf of current and former directors and officers 
of RACQ and its controlled entities. The directors have not 
included details of the nature of the liabilities covered, the 
limit of liabilities covered, or the amount of premium paid 
in respect of the Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance 
contract, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of 
the contract. 

Members’ guarantee
RACQ is a company limited by guarantee and has no share 
capital. In the event of winding up, all classes of members 
are liable to the amount of $2.10 per member. RACQ 
has 1,296,121 guaranteeing members resulting in a total 
contribution of $2,721,854.10 upon winding up.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on  
page 100 (of the Financial Report) and forms part of the 
Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2014. 

Rounding off
RACQ is a company of a kind referred to in ASIC Class 
Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with 
that Class Order, amounts in the consolidated Financial 
Report have been rounded off to the nearest one thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of RACQ directors.

Geoffrey C Leddy 
President

25 September 2014
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RACQ board and committee meetings

Director Board

Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee

Group 
Investment 

Committee~

Group 
Governance and 
Remuneration 
Committee

Club 
Insurance 
Holdings  
Pty Ltd1

 A H A H A H A H A H
Mr N W F Alexander 10 10 1 2 102 102 6 6
Ms F L Barker 10 10 5 5
Mr C Charlton  
(appointed 22 May 2014) 2 2
Mr A M Gambling 10 10 5 5
Mr D G Howe  
(retired 31 December 2013) 6 6 2 3
Ms E M Jameson 8 10 5 5 9 10
Mr G C Leddy 9 10  102  102 6 6
Mr S J Maitland 10 10 4 5 6 6
Ms B K Morris 10 10 5 5 10 10 3 3
Mr K D Morris 10 10 4 5
Mr R J Pietsch 10 10 13 13 3 3

A Meetings attended during the financial year.   

H Meetings held during the financial year while the director held office.    

~  The Group Investment Committee replaced the Asset and Corporate Committee on 22 July 2013. No meetings of the Asset and Corporate 
Committee were held in the financial year.

1 APRA-regulated non-operating holding company interposed between RACQ and RACQ Insurance.

2 Messrs Alexander and Leddy are RACQ Insurance Limited appointees to the Group Governance and Remuneration Committee.

3  Mr Pietsch was appointed to the Group Investment Committee by the RACQ board in March 2014. He attended two meetings in the period  
30 June – 31 December 2013 as an RACQ Insurance appointee, prior to his retirement from that board. These meetings have not been  
included in these figures.

Director’s Report continued
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RACQ Insurance board and committee meetings

Director
RACQ Insurance 

Board

Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee

Group Investment 
Committee~

Group Governance 
and Remuneration 

Committee

A H A H A H A H
Mr N W F Alexander 8 8 4 4 9 9
Mr I A Gillespie 8 8
Mr N Ide 7 8 6 7 5 5
Mr R Jones 7 8 4 5 7 8
Mr G C Leddy 8 8 9 9
Mr S J Maitland 8 8 5 7
Ms B K Morris  
(appointed 5 March 2014) 3 3 2 2 4^ 4^
Mr R J Pietsch  
(retired 31 December 2013) 4 4 2* 3*
Mr M J Tozer 8 8 7 7

A Meetings attended during the financial year.

H Meetings held during the financial year while the director held office.

~   The Group Investment Committee replaced the Board Investment Committee on 22 July 2013. No meetings of the Board Investment 
Committee were held in the financial year.

*   Mr Pietsch attended one Group Investment Committee meeting following his retirement from the RACQ Insurance board on 31 December 
2013 as an appointee of the RACQ Limited board. This meeting has not been included in these figures.

^   Ms Morris is Chair and RACQ Limited appointee of the Group Governance and Remuneration Committee. In this capacity, she attended five 
meetings prior to her appointment to the RACQ Insurance Board on 5 March 2014. These meetings have not been included in these figures. 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 30 June 2014

RACQ Group
12 months to  

June 2014
6 months to 

June 2013
Note $’000 $’000

Revenue 3 994,274 532,827

Expenses
Insurance claims expense 2(b) (437,481) (269,969)
Outwards reinsurance premium expense 2(a) (77,013) (42,447)
Underwriting and acquisition costs (66,528) (32,346)
Advertising and promotions (8,333) (2,455)
Communication and information technology (31,166) (14,030)
Personnel expenses 4(b) (125,349) (60,504)
Motor vehicle expenses (4,315) (2,492)
Payments to contractors for roadside assistance and provision of  
other member services (51,472) (26,722)
Property and related costs (9,183) (4,182)
Amortisation of intangible assets 4(a) (41,467) (16,441)
Other expenses (24,464) (14,942)
Results from operating activities 117,503 46,297

Surplus before income tax 117,503 46,297
Income tax expense 5 (27,327) (10,267)
Surplus for the period 90,176 36,030

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit asset 19 619 2,454
Tax on items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (186) (736)
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 433 1,718

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net change in fair value of financial assets held as available-for-sale 3,088 902
Net change in fair value of financial assets sold reclassified to profit or loss 381 95
Tax on items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (1,041) (299)
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 20 2,428 698

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 2,861 2,416

Total comprehensive income for the year 93,037 38,446

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on 
pages 53 to 97.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2014

  RACQ Group

 Note
2014 
$’000

2013
$’000

Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 26,298 36,724
Trade and other receivables 6 153,991 150,801
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 7 85,404 107,790
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 9 455,564 478,219
Deferred insurance assets 8 33,757 33,493
Other current assets 10 7,386 6,482
Total current assets 762,400 813,509
  
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 7 84,554 81,308
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 9 1,047,928 857,670
Property, plant and equipment 13 76,737 78,344
Investment property 11 7,552 7,707
Intangible assets 14 351,831 383,524
Deferred tax assets 12 20,607 17,294
Other non-current assets 10 3,380 2,660
Total non-current assets 1,592,589 1,428,507
Total assets 2,354,989 2,242,016
  
Liabilities  
Trade and other payables 15 38,800 41,567
Unearned revenue 16 410,035 399,401
Outstanding claims liability 17 252,788 285,554
Current tax payable 14,664 9,339
Employee benefits 19 23,774 21,409
Total current liabilities 740,061 757,270
  
Outstanding claims liability 17 540,666 504,043
Employee benefits 19 4,146 3,624
Total non-current liabilities 544,812 507,667
  
Total liabilities 1,284,873 1,264,937
  
Net assets 1,070,116 977,079
  
Accumulated funds  
Reserves 20 10,097 7,669
Retained surplus 1,060,019 969,410
Total accumulated funds  1,070,116 977,079

The Consolidated Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 53 to 97.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2014

June 2014

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve 
$’000

Retained  
surplus 

$’000

Total  
accumulated 

funds 
$’000

Balance at beginning of year 7,669 969,410 977,079
Surplus for the year – 90,176 90,176
Other comprehensive income for the year 2,428 433 2,861
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,428 90,609 93,037
  
Balance at end of year 10,097 1,060,019 1,070,116
  

June 2013

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve 
$’000

Retained  
surplus 

$’000

Total  
accumulated 

funds 
$’000

Balance at beginning of period 6,971 931,662 938,633
Surplus for the period – 36,030 36,030
Other comprehensive income for the period 698 1,718 2,416
Total comprehensive income for the period 698 37,748 38,446
  
Balance at end of year 7,669 969,410 977,079

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages  
53 to 97.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2014

  RACQ Group

 
12 months to 

June 2014
6 months to  

June 2013
 Note $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities  
Subscriptions and entrance fees received 147,116 69,139
Insurance premiums received 766,712 373,881
Outwards reinsurance premiums paid (77,399) (22,299)
Reinsurance and other recoveries received 96,602 63,206
Insurance claims paid (481,797) (282,316)
Other cash receipts in the course of operations (46,239) 5,604
Other cash payments in the course of operations (356,971) (165,424)
Income taxes paid (25,500) (7,367)
  
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 29 115,002 34,424
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Interest received 63,641 29,105
Dividends received 1,780 762
Rental income received 1,397 715
Payments for investments (1,961,722) (1,369,691)
Proceeds from sale of investments 1,787,555 1,292,197
Payments for intangible assets (9,858) 8,900
Payments for property, plant and equipment (8,759) (2,315)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 538 425
  
Net cash flows from investing activities (125,428) (57,702)
  
Net decrease in cash held (10,426) (23,278)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 36,724 60,002
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 29 26,298 36,724

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 53 to 97.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited (the Company) is a company limited by guarantee that is domiciled in Australia. 
The address of the Company’s registered office is 2649 Logan Road, Eight Mile Plains, Queensland, 4113. The consolidated financial 
statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2014 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred 
to as the ‘RACQ Group’). The Company is a not-for-profit entity.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 September 2014.

The significant accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements, and have been consistently applied by consolidated entities. Certain comparative amounts have been restated to conform 
to the current year’s presentation.

(a)	 Change	in	financial	period	end	date
The RACQ Group obtained approval from the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) on 24 May 2013 to change 
its financial year end date from 31 December to 30 June. As a result, the current financial year represents the 12 months to 30 June 
2014, however, the comparative period of the RACQ Group represents the six months from 1 January 2013 to 30 June 2013. As 
such, the amounts presented in the financial report are not entirely comparable. Effective 1 July 2013, the financial years of the RACQ 
Group are 12-month periods ending 30 June.

(b)	 Statement	of	compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board.

(c)	 Basis	of	preparation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and have been prepared on the historical cost basis except 
for the following assets that are measured at fair value:

• Available-for-sale financial assets;

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and

• Assets backing general insurance liabilities.

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that Class Order, 
amounts in the consolidated financial report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

(d)	 Significant	estimates,	judgements	and	assumptions
In preparing these consolidated financial statements management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are:

(i) Estimation of outstanding claims liability
Provision is made at year end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the reporting date, including the cost of 
claims incurred but not yet reported.

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims gross of expected reinsurance and other 
recoveries. The RACQ Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures. 
However, given the uncertainty in estimating claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from the 
original liability established. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d)	 Significant	estimates,	judgements	and	assumptions	(continued)

(i) Estimation of outstanding claims liability (continued)
Claims reported at the balance sheet date are estimated with due regard to the claim circumstance as reported by the insured, legal 
representative, assessor, loss adjuster and/or other third party and then combined, where appropriate, with historical evidence on the 
cost of settling similar claims. Case estimates are reviewed regularly and are updated as and when new information arises. 

There is a significant degree of uncertainty in the estimation of claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) and claims incurred but not 
enough reported (IBNER). IBNR and IBNER claims typically may not be adequately reported until many years after the events giving 
rise to the claims have occurred. Personal Insurance claims are generally reported within a short timeframe following the claim event 
and therefore estimates are more certain. Compulsory Third Party claims display increased complexity and longer settlement periods, 
which typically results in greater uncertainty in estimation. 

A number of actuarial techniques are employed to estimate the future ultimate claims cost. These techniques are based upon 
statistical analyses of historical experience, which assume that the development pattern of current claims will be consistent with past 
experience. Where historical experience is not sufficient, a combination of actual and industry experience is utilised to calculate the 
ultimate claims cost. An allowance is made, including relevant industry issues faced by the RACQ Group, for changes or uncertainties 
in the underlying assumptions derived from historical data, which might cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase or reduce 
compared with the cost of previously settled claims.

The ultimate net outstanding claims provision also includes an additional margin to allow for the uncertainty within the estimation 
process. Details of specific actuarial techniques and assumptions used in calculating the outstanding claims liability at balance sheet date 
are described at Note 2.

(ii) Estimation of reinsurance and other recoveries
In addition to the calculation of the gross outstanding claims liability, estimates for potential reinsurance and other recoveries are also 
computed using the above methods. These calculations are also based on past recovery experience or relevant industry benchmarks 
and include adjustments to these assumptions where appropriate. In addition, the recoverability of the assets is assessed on a periodic 
basis to ensure that the balance is reflective of the amounts that will ultimately be received, taking into consideration factors such as 
counterparty credit risk. Impairment is recognised where there is objective evidence that the RACQ Group may not receive amounts 
due to it and these amounts can be reliably measured.

(iii) Assumptions for testing goodwill for impairment
The RACQ Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash generating 
units have been determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, which represent 
management’s assessment of future trends in the industry and are based on both external and internal sources of data. Details of the 
assumptions are described in Note 14.

(e)	 Basis	of	consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. The RACQ Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date 
that control ceases. 

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)	 Business	combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the RACQ Group. 

The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed by the RACQ Group at the date 
of acquisition. Transaction costs that the RACQ Group incurs in connection with a business combination, such as legal fees, due 
diligence fees, and other professional and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred. 

The subsidiary’s identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. If the cost of acquisition is greater than the fair value of the RACQ Group’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired, the excess is recorded as goodwill. 

(g)	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and call deposits. 

(h)	 Trade	and	other	receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

Receivables are impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred. All significant receivables are individually 
assessed for impairment. Non-significant receivables are not individually assessed. Instead, impairment testing is performed by placing 
non-significant receivables in portfolios of similar risk profiles, based on historical trends of the probability of default, adjusted for any 
effects of conditions existing at each balance date.

An impairment loss is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. 

(i)	 Financial	instruments
Financial assets are recognised initially on the trade date at which the RACQ Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. The RACQ Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from that asset expire, 
or it transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the financial asset. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Balance Sheet when, and only when, the RACQ 
Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

(i) Available-for-sale financial assets
The RACQ Group’s investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. 
Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are remeasured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses, are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and presented within equity in the investment revaluation reserve. When an investment is derecognised, the 
cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to surplus.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the cumulative losses in the investment 
revaluation reserve in equity to surplus. The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in surplus. 

(ii)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition. 
The RACQ Group has designated financial assets held in portfolios that broadly match the average duration of a corresponding 
insurance liability as assets backing general insurance liabilities. Assets backing general insurance liabilities are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss as they are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the documented 
Risk Management Strategy. These financial assets include government and corporate bonds, mortgage backed securities and other 
interest bearing financial assets. Transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognised in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)	 Financial	instruments	(continued)

(ii)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Details of fair value of the different types of financial assets are:

• For listed securities fair value is taken as the average market value of the instrument at the reporting date;

• For unlisted securities fair value is taken by reference to their stated redemption value; and 

• Where there are no publicly listed prices available, the fair value will be determined using the relevant market standard valuation 
formula, or where no relevant formula exists, the value as determined by the approved valuer. 

(iii) Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable are assessed in a manner similar to the assessment of outstanding claims. Reinsurance 
and other recoveries are measured as the present value of expected future receipts, calculated on the same basis as the provision for 
outstanding claims. They are subsequently measured at fair value, which is approximated by taking the initially recognised amount and 
reducing it for impairment as appropriate.

A provision for impairment of receivables is recognised when there is objective evidence that the RACQ Group will not be able 
to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The discount is calculated using a risk free rate 
that is derived from Commonwealth Government Bonds. Reinsurance receivables are individually assessed for impairment. Other 
recoveries receivable are not individually assessed. Instead, a collective assessment of impairment is performed based on objective 
evidence from historical experience adjusted for any effects of conditions existing at each balance date. The impairment charge is 
recognised in surplus.

(iv) Derivative financial instruments
The RACQ Group holds derivative financial instruments to manage its interest rate and credit risk exposure within the insurance 
investment portfolios. 

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, excluding transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
derivatives are remeasured at fair value. Changes in the fair values of derivative financial instruments are recognised in surplus. 

The external investment manager is required to regularly report on compliance with the use of derivatives in accordance with the 
relevant investment mandate.

(j)	 Deferred	insurance	assets

(i) Deferred acquisition costs
Acquisition costs incurred in obtaining and recording general insurance contracts are deferred and recognised as assets when they can 
be reliably measured and where it is probable that they will give rise to premium revenue that will be recognised in the profit or loss 
in subsequent reporting periods.

Deferred acquisition costs are amortised systematically in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk under the 
general insurance contracts to which they relate. This pattern of amortisation corresponds to the earning pattern of the corresponding 
premium revenue.

Deferred acquisition costs are recognised as assets to the extent that the related unearned premiums exceed the sum of the deferred 
acquisition cost and the present value of expected future claims, including an appropriate risk margin. Where there is a shortfall, the 
deferred acquisition cost asset is written down and if insufficient, additional liability is recognised. Refer Note 1(t).

(ii) Deferred reinsurance premiums
The amortisation of deferred reinsurance premiums is in accordance with the pattern of reinsurance service received. The amount 
deferred represents the future economic benefit to be received from reinsurance contracts. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)	 Investment	property
Investment property comprises land and buildings held for the purpose of either capital appreciation or to earn rental income, or 
both. The RACQ Group has chosen the cost model approach in accounting for investment properties. Accordingly investment 
properties are recorded at cost less any accumulated depreciation applicable to the buildings and any accumulated impairment losses.

Investment properties are depreciated on a straight line basis at 2.5% per annum. External valuations by independent valuers are 
obtained every three years and on an annual basis management assess the properties for impairment.

(l)	 Property,	plant	and	equipment

(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

(ii) Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will 
flow to the RACQ Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing and maintaining of property, plant 
and equipment are expensed as incurred. 

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment. Land is not 
depreciated. The depreciation rates used for each class of asset in the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Useful life
Buildings 40 years or lease term, if shorter
Plant and equipment 2.5 – 25 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

(iv) Sale of property plant and equipment
Gains or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of the asset and are recognised net within other income or other expenses.

(m)	 Intangible	assets

(i) Recognition and measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the RACQ Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

(ii) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in surplus.

(iii) Research and development
Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically 
and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the RACQ Group intends to and has sufficient resources to 
complete development and to use or sell the asset. Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, development is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m)	 Intangible	assets	(continued)

(iv) Amortisation
Except for goodwill, intangible assets are amortised on a discounted cash flow basis, estimated claims runoff basis or a straight-line  
basis over the estimated useful life of intangible assets. The amortisation bases used for each class of asset for the current and 
comparative periods are as follows:

Basis Useful life
Software and licensing costs Straight line 4 years
Customer relationships Discounted cash flow 10 years
Net fair value of claims reserve Claims runoff 19 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

Software represents the software that was operating at the date of acquisition or at the date of implementation. Customer 
relationships represent the expected retention of current customers beyond the expiration of the existing insurance contract terms. 
The fair value of the claims reserve represents the difference between the book value and the fair value of the outstanding claims 
provision at the acquisition date. The fair value of the claims reserve is net of the deferred acquisition costs at the date of acquisition.

(n)	 Income	tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in surplus except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable surplus will be available against which the asset 
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that the related tax benefit will be realised.

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the RACQ Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions 
and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series 
of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the RACQ Group to change its judgement 
regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities. Such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a 
determination is made.

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are not a part of a tax-consolidated group. As a consequence each 
entity is separately assessed for tax.

(o)	 Trade	and	other	payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Trade and other payables are unsecured,  
non-interest bearing and are usually settled within 30 days. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)	 Unearned	revenue

(i) Unearned member subscriptions
The 365-day method is used to calculate the amount of unearned member subscriptions. This involves the spread of subscription 
income using a time based method so as to calculate the portion of the subscription applicable to the unexpired period of a 
membership term.

(ii) Unearned insurance premium liability
The proportion of premium received or receivable not earned in surplus at the reporting date is recognised in the balance sheet as 
an unearned premium liability. The unearned premium liability represents premium revenue which will be earned in subsequent 
reporting periods. 

(q)	 Outstanding	claims	liability
The liability for outstanding claims is measured as the central estimate of the present value of expected future payments relating to 
claims incurred at the reporting date, with an additional risk margin to allow for the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate.  
The liability is measured based on the valuations performed by, or under the direction of, the Appointed Actuary.

The expected future payments include those in relation to claims reported but not yet paid, claims incurred but not reported (IBNR), 
claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER) and the direct and indirect costs of settling those claims. The expected future payments 
are discounted to present value using a risk-free rate based on Commonwealth Government Bonds as at the reporting date.

A risk margin is applied to the outstanding claims liability, net of reinsurance and other recoveries, to reflect the inherent uncertainty in 
the central estimate. The details of the risk margin applied and the process of determining the risk margin is set out in Note 17.

(r)	 Unexpired	risk	liability	
At each reporting date the RACQ Group assesses whether the unearned premium liability is sufficient to cover all expected future 
cash flows relating to future claims against current insurance contracts. This assessment is referred to as the liability adequacy test 
and is performed separately for each portfolio of contracts subject to broadly similar risks and managed together as a single portfolio. 
RACQ Insurance has one portfolio of contracts being personal lines, which incorporates Personal Insurance and Compulsory Third 
Party (“CTP”) Insurance.

If the present value of the expected future cash flows relating to future claims plus an additional risk margin to reflect the inherent 
uncertainty in the central estimate exceeds the unearned premium liability less any related deferred acquisition costs and deferred 
reinsurance assets, then the unearned premium liability is deemed to be deficient. The resulting deficiency is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss. The deficiency is recognised first by writing down any deferred acquisition costs, with any excess being recorded in 
the Balance Sheet as an unexpired risk liability.

(s)	 Employee	benefits

(i) Short-term benefits
Short term employee benefits represent the amount that the RACQ Group has a present obligation to pay resulting from employees’ 
services provided up to the reporting date, which are expected to be wholly settled within twelve months of the reporting date.  
The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on wage and salary rates that the RACQ Group expects to pay 
as at reporting date, including related on-costs, such as workers compensation insurance and payroll tax.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the RACQ Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay 
this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Superannuation plan
The RACQ Group contributes to an employee superannuation plan that has a Defined Benefit Division and a Defined Contribution 
Division. The RACQ Group also contributes to other defined contribution superannuation funds.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(s)	 Employee	benefits	(continued)

(iii) Defined contribution superannuation funds
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense as the related service is provided. 

(iv) Defined benefit superannuation funds
The defined benefit superannuation plan provides defined benefits based on years of service and final average salary. In accordance 
with the Trust Deed, the RACQ Group and certain related entities are under a legal obligation to make up any shortfall in the defined 
benefit superannuation plan’s assets to meet payments due to employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The RACQ Group’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit superannuation plan is calculated by estimating the amount of 
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount and 
deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on Commonwealth Government bonds 
that have maturity dates approximating the expected terms of the RACQ Group’s obligation. 

When the calculation results in an asset for the RACQ Group, the recognised asset is limited to the present value of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The RACQ Group recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans immediately in other comprehensive 
income. Net interest expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plan are recognised in surplus.

(v) Long-term employee benefits
The RACQ Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using expected future increases in wage 
and salary rates, including related on-costs and expected settlement dates, and is discounted to determine its present value. 

(t)	 Impairment	–	non-financial	assets
The carrying amounts of the RACQ Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventory and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows from continuing use 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units (CGUs).

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or its CGU is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risk specific to the asset or CGU. 

Impairment losses are recognised in surplus. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 
CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(u)	 Revenue

(i) Member subscriptions and entrance fees
Member subscriptions comprise amounts received from members net of GST. The earned portion of subscriptions received is 
recognised as revenue evenly over the membership period (one year). Entrance fees are recognised as revenue upon receipt.

(ii) Member services
Member services comprise revenue from the provision of member-related services to members and is recognised as it accrues.

(iii) Rental income
Rental income from investment property is recognised in surplus on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

(iv) Insurance premium revenue
Premium revenue includes amounts charged to policyholders, including applicable levies and charges, but excluding stamp duty and 
GST collected on behalf of third parties.

Premium revenue, including that on unclosed business, is recognised in surplus when it has been earned. Premium revenue is earned 
from the date of attachment of risk over the period of the related insurance contracts in accordance with the pattern of the incidence 
of risk expected under the contracts. The pattern of the risks underwritten is generally matched by the passing of time. Premium on 
unclosed business is brought to account based on the pattern of processing renewals and new business. 

(v) Reinsurance and other recoveries
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable on paid claims, reported claims not yet paid, claims incurred but not reported (IBNR) 
and claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER) are recognised as revenue.

(vi) Investment income
Investment income is comprised of interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, 
net gains/(losses) on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in surplus on the date that the 
RACQ Group’s right to receive payment is established. Distributions from listed and unlisted trusts are recognised on the date the unit 
value is quoted ex-distribution.

(v)	 Claims	expense
Claims expense represents claim payments adjusted for the movement in the outstanding claims liability. Claims expense is recognised 
in surplus as losses are incurred, which is usually the point in time when the event giving rise to the claim occurs.

(w)	 Outwards	reinsurance	premium	expense
Premium ceded to reinsurers is recognised as outwards reinsurance premium expense from the attachment date over the period 
of indemnity of the reinsurance contract in accordance with the expected pattern of the incidence of risk. The unearned portion of 
outwards reinsurance premium is treated as a deferred insurance asset and a corresponding liability has been recognised in payables.

(x)	 Operating	leases
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in surplus on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(y)	 New	standards	and	interpretations	not	yet	adopted
The following standard, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those that may impact the RACQ 
Group in the period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at 30 June 2014, but have not been applied in 
preparing these consolidated financial statements. The RACQ Group does not intend to adopt these standards early and has not yet 
determined the potential impact of these standards.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (2010 and 2009) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 with early adoption 
permitted and introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities. The potential 
impact of this standard on the group has not yet been determined.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(y)	 New	standards	and	interpretations	not	yet	adopted	(continued)
AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The amendment clarifies when an entity has a legally enforceable right to off-set 
financial assets and liabilities. The potential effects on adoption of the amendment are yet to be determined.

2 GENERAL INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

(a)	 Insurance	result	

 RACQ Group

 
12 months to 

June 2014
6 months to  

June 2013
 $’000 $’000

Premium revenue 693,788 336,808
Outwards reinsurance premium expense (77,013) (42,447)
Net premium revenue 616,775 294,361
  
Claims expense (437,481) (269,969)
Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue 66,535 87,200
Net claims incurred (370,946) (182,769)
  
Acquisition costs (72,140) (24,672)
Other underwriting expenses (95,836) (43,612)
Underwriting expenses (167,976) (68,284)
  
Underwriting result 77,853 43,308

Underwriting expenses for the purpose of this note includes an allocation of communication and information technology expenses, 
personnel expenses, property and related costs, amortisation of intangible assets and other expenses that are related to acquisition 
and underwriting activities.

(b)	 Net	claims	incurred

12 months to June 2014 6 months to June 2013

Current
 year

$’000

Prior 
periods

$’000
Total

$’000

Current 
period
$’000

Prior 
years
$’000

Total
$’000

Gross claims expense
Gross claims incurred – undiscounted 545,966 (104,996) 440,970 369,410 (98,936) 270,474
Discount movement (26,842) 23,353  (3,489)  (12,970) 12,465 (505)

 519,124  (81,643) 437,481 356,440  (86,471) 269,969

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue
Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue – 
undiscounted  (85,248)  14,042 (71,206) (104,724) 17,498 (87,226)
Discount movement   5,748  (1,077)  4,671 2,504  (2,478) 26

 (79,500)  12,965 (66,535) (102,220) 15,020 (87,200)
Total net claims incurred  439,624  (68,678) 370,946 254,220  (71,451) 182,769
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2 GENERAL INSURANCE ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)	 Net	claims	incurred	(continued)
Due to continued stabilisation, the assumed CTP small claim cost per policy for recent accident years was revised downwards.  
There has been a downward revision in CTP large claim costs for the 2010 to 2012 accident years, offset by adverse experience  
for the 2014 year. These two revisions pertaining to CTP are the key drivers of the overall release from prior years.

(c)	 Actuarial	assumptions	and	methods
The RACQ Group uses different valuation approaches for Personal Insurance (PI) and Compulsory Third Party Insurance (CTP).  
The RACQ Group utilises valuations performed by external and internal actuaries to value the outstanding claims and related 
recoveries. The actuarial methods used are based on the underlying attributes of the claims portfolio. The process for determining the 
value of outstanding claims liabilities in respect of these classes is described below.

Personal Insurance
Personal Insurance claims are classified as short tail in nature, with the majority of claims settling within a twelve month period of being 
reported. The main actuarial valuation model used is the chain ladder model on claims costs. This model determines the underlying 
ratios of the claims cost in each successive time period and uses these ratios to project the current cost to the estimated ultimate 
cost. For non-reinsurance recoveries, home fire and home liability claims where there is greater uncertainty due to their longer term 
nature, a method that blends reported estimates with a fixed expected rate per claim based on expected reporting patterns was used.

CTP Insurance
CTP Insurance claims are classified as long tail in nature, with the majority of claims settling within a period greater than twelve 
months of being reported. Two valuation methods are used to model gross outstanding claims.

1. For accident periods until 2007, case estimates were adopted with a development margin added based on an analysis of case 
estimate trends. 

2. For accident periods beyond December 2007 large and small claims cost per policy were modelled separately. Reference is also 
made to industry data in setting these costs. For large claims a model was used that blends the expected initial large claims cost 
per policy with the emerging case experience. For the small claims the model examines and selects a cost per policy based on 
groupings on the Abbreviated Injury Scale (AIS).

Claims inflation is incorporated into the resulting projected payments to allow for general economic inflation, as well as any 
superimposed inflation. 

Projected payments are then discounted to allow for the time value of money. Over the course of the period, discount rates 
remained stable at the short end of the yield curve but decreased across the long end. On average, the discount rate has decreased 
and this has increased the size of the provisions required to cover future claims costs.

Actuarial assumptions
The actuarial assumptions used in determining the outstanding claims liability are:

     June 2014      June 2013

     Personal Lines      Personal Lines

Personal 
Insurance

CTP  
Insurance

Personal 
Insurance

CTP 
Insurance

Discount rate 2.7% 3.0% 2.9% 3.0%
Inflation rate – 4.0% – 4.0%
Superimposed inflation rate – 3.5% – 3.5%
Claims handling expense rate 5.1% 6.8% 4.5% 5.8%

Process used to determine assumptions
The process used to determine these assumptions is provided below:

Discount rate
The liability cash flows for each class of business have been discounted using a series of rates derived from a yield curve based on 
Commonwealth Government bonds as at the reporting date.
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2 GENERAL INSURANCE ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Actuarial	assumptions	and	methods	(continued)

Inflation rate
Personal Insurance – No explicit allowance for general economic inflation has been made. Allowances for future inflation are implicit 
in the selected claims cost development patterns.

CTP Insurance – For CTP insurance the claims experience relates to compensation for personal injury and has a significant  
wage-related component. The general economic inflation assumption is therefore based on market expectations of growth in  
average weekly earnings.

Superimposed inflation 
Personal Insurance – No explicit allowance for superimposed inflation has been made. Allowances for future inflation where it exists 
are implicit in the selected claims cost development patterns

CTP Insurance – Superimposed inflation refers to the tendency of claims costs, over time, to increase above the rate of base inflation 
due to economic, social and political forces. Legislation changes and court settlement experience also contribute to superimposed 
inflation. An allowance for superimposed inflation is made within the underlying valuation model.

Claims handling expense rate
Future claims handling expense (CHE) was selected with reference to industry benchmarks and the experience of CHE as a percentage 
of past payments. Claim handling expense rates are expressed gross of all recoveries for CTP insurance. Claim handling expense rates 
for Motor and Pleasure Craft are calculated gross of reinsurance and non-reinsurance recoveries but net of input tax credit recoveries. 
For Home, claim handling expenses are calculated net of all recoveries. Total personal lines claim handling expenses are expressed as a 
percentage of claim costs gross of reinsurance and non-reinsurance recoveries but net of input tax credit recoveries.

Sensitivity analysis – insurance contracts
The RACQ Group conducts sensitivity analyses to quantify the exposure to risk of changes in the key underlying variables. The 
valuations included in the reported results are calculated using certain assumptions about these variables as disclosed above. The 
movement in any key variable will impact the surplus of the RACQ Group. 

The assumptions have been changed from prior years and have been applied to the whole personal lines portfolio to show a more 
relevant and material financial impact on the RACQ Group’s results.

The table and analysis below describe how a change in each assumption will affect the insurance liabilities and shows an analysis of the 
sensitivity of the surplus to changes in these assumptions on a net of reinsurance basis. 

Variable Impact of movement in variable
Discount rate Future outstanding claims payments are discounted to the balance date to allow for the time 

value of money. The valuation uses rates derived from market yields for Commonwealth 
Government securities at the valuation date. The sensitivity analysis tests the impact of moving 
the entire yield curve by the amount presented in the table.

Inflation rate Claims that are not yet finalised are exposed to the risk of inflation. The sensitivity analysis tests 
the impact of increasing all future payments by the movement in the inflation rate presented in 
the table.

CTP claims costs In the CTP valuation, experience against recent accident periods is immature. The sensitivity 
analysis shows the impact on profit from an increase or decrease in the outstanding claims cost 
per policy for these recent periods.

Claims handling expense  
(CHE) rate

The assumption accounts for CHE with respect to the amounts that are not directly 
allocated to individual claims. Increasing this assumption adversely impacts profit because the 
outstanding claims liability is increased.
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2 GENERAL INSURANCE ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

(c)	 Actuarial	assumptions	and	methods	(continued)
The table below summarises the sensitivity of the surplus/(deficiency) after tax to changes in key variables net of reinsurance and 
taxation at the prima facie rate of 30%. 

A change in each variable will have no impact on equity reserves.

  Movement in Variable Financial Impact on Profit/(Loss) after tax

12 months to 
June 2014

6 months to  
June 2013

12 months to 
June 2014

6 months to  
June 2013

Impact of changes in key variables $’000 $’000
Assumption
Discount rate +1% +1% 9,518 7,250

-1% -1% (9,938) (7,507)
Inflation rate +1% +1% (8,309) 6,161

-1% -1% 8,567 (5,992)
CTP claims cost +10% +10% (33,383) (14,586)
(2013 and 2014 accident years) -10% -10% 33,681 14,585
Claims handling expense rate +1% +1% (5,255) (5,104)

-1% -1% 5,255 5,104

3 REVENUE
 RACQ Group

12 months to 
June 2014

6 months to 
June 2013

 $’000 $’000
Member subscription and entrance fee revenue 131,208 63,484
  
Member services revenue 30,178 16,500
  
Insurance premium revenue 693,788 336,808
  
Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue 66,535 87,200
  
Investment income  
Dividend income 1,780 762
Interest income 63,641 29,105
Net loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets transferred from equity (381) (95)

Net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss  
 Unrealised losses (3,512) (5,826)
 Realised losses (5,512) (2,555)
Total investment income 56,016 21,391
  
Other revenue  
Rent received from other parties 1,397 715
Other income 15,152 6,729
Total other revenue 16,549 7,444
  
Total Revenue 994,274 532,827
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4 SURPLUS BEFORE TAX

 RACQ Group

 
12 months to  

June 2014
6 months to 

June 2013
 $’000 $’000

(a)	 Surplus	before	tax	has	been	arrived	at	after	charging/(crediting)	the	following	items:
Depreciation expense
 Buildings 418 207
 Plant and equipment 8,979 3,262
 Investment property 155 76
Total depreciation expense 9,552 3,545
  
Amortisation expense  
 Software and licensing costs 31,468 10,755
 Customer relationships 3,997 2,087
 Outstanding claims fair value adjustment 6,002 3,599
 Total amortisation expense 41,467 16,441
  
Impairment Losses  
Impairment loss on receivables 17 –
Impairment loss on available for sale financial assets 199 –
(Release)/Increase of provision on non-reinsurance receivable (530) (2,246)
Total impairment (release)/loss (314) (2,246)
  
Surplus/(deficiency) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 20 (260)
  
(b)	Personnel	expenses  
Wages and salaries 115,409 55,573
Contribution to defined contribution superannuation funds 9,597 4,732
Expense related to defined benefit superannuation funds 343 199

 125,349 60,504
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5 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

 RACQ Group

 
12 months to 

June 2014
6 months  

to 2013
 $’000 $’000

Recognised in surplus  
Current tax expense:  
 - Current year 31,662 16,827
 - Adjustments for prior years 204 –
 31,866 16,827
Deferred tax expense:  
 - Origination and reversal of temporary differences (4,539) (6,560)
Total income tax expense 27,327 10,267
  
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity  
 - Relating to remeasurement of defined benefit plan 186 736
 - Relating to other financial assets 1,041 299
Total income tax recognised directly in accumulated funds 1,227 1,035
  
Prima facie tax expense calculated at 30% (2013: 30%) on operating surplus before tax 35,251 13,889
  
Movement in income tax expense due to:  
 - Non-deductible expenses (16) (62)
 - Mutual income and related deductions (4,616) (3,348)
 - Tax offset in franked dividends (518) (212)
 - Prior year under/(over) provision for research and development amendments (3,204) –
 - Prior year under/(over) provision other 430 –
Income tax expense/(benefit) on operating surplus 27,327 10,267

6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

 RACQ Group

12 months to 
June 2014

6 months  
to 2013

$’000 $’000
Current  
Trade receivables 259 1,010
Instalment insurance premiums 149,389 146,687
Other 4,343 3,104
 153,991 150,801

The RACQ Group’s exposure to credit risk and impairment loss is disclosed in Note 22.
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7 REINSURANCE AND OTHER RECOVERIES RECEIVABLE

 RACQ Group

 
2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Reinsurance recoveries
Expected undiscounted outstanding reinsurance recoveries
 On paid claims 8,425 11,735
 On outstanding claims 74,981 92,327
 83,406 104,062
Discount to present value (7,468) (4,396)

 75,938 99,666
  
Other recoveries  
Expected undiscounted outstanding other recoveries  
 On paid claims 58,741 55,318
 On outstanding claims 54,954 54,159
 113,695 109,477
Discount to present value (5,430) (5,270)
Provision for impairment (14,245) (14,775)
 94,020 89,432
Total reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 169,958 189,098
  
Current 85,404 107,790
Non-current 84,554 81,308

 169,958 189,098

8 DEFERRED INSURANCE ASSETS

 RACQ Group

 
2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Current  
Deferred acquisition costs  
Deferred acquisition costs at beginning of the period 33,489 31,777
Acquisition costs incurred in the period 70,146 26,384
Amortisation expense (69,879) (24,672)
Deferred acquisition costs at end of the financial year 33,756 33,489
  
Deferred reinsurance asset  
Deferred reinsurance premiums at the beginning of the period 4 35,612
Reinsurance premiums expensed in the period (77,013) (42,447)
Reinsurance premiums taken up during the period 77,010 6,839
Deferred reinsurance premiums at end of financial year 1 4
  
Total deferred insurance assets 33,757 33,493
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9 INVESTMENTS

 RACQ Group

 
2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Current  
Available for sale  
Debt securities 6,086 8,051
Interest bearing deposits 137,745 86,773
  
Designated at fair value through profit or loss  
Debt securities, deposits and bills 311,733 383,395
Total current investments 455,564 478,219
  
Non-current  
Available for sale  
Equity securities 23,017 20,265
Debt securities 135,182 49,010
Interest bearing deposits 47,697 57,192
Other unlisted investments 8,068 8,268
  
Designated at fair value through profit or loss  
Debt securities 833,964 722,935
Total non-current investments 1,047,928 857,670

The RACQ Group’s exposure to credit and interest rate risks related to investments is disclosed in Note 22.

10 OTHER ASSETS 

RACQ Group

2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Current   
Prepayments 6,250 5,635
Inventories 1,136 847
Total other current assets 7,386 6,482
  
Non-Current  
Surplus – defined benefit superannuation fund 3,380 2,660
Total other non-current assets 3,380 2,660



70 R A C Q  2 0 1 3 / 1 4  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTY
 RACQ Group

 
2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Carrying amount at beginning of period 7,707 7,783
Depreciation Expense (155) (76)
Carrying amount at the end of the period 7,552 7,707

The fair value of the investment property has been determined by an independent valuation carried out as at 13 December 2012 by 
McGees AAPI to be $14,220,000. The basis of valuation was open market value for its highest and best use. RACQ Group considers 
the existing commercial investment grade use to be its highest and best use and fair value has been measured on this basis. Based on 
current circumstances there is no evidence to suggest that the carrying value of the investment property is impaired.

12 TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognised	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net

RACQ Group

June 
2014 
$’000

June
2013
$’000

June
2014
$’000

June
2013
$’000

June
2014
$’000

June
2013
$’000

Property, plant and equipment – – (14,279) (10,945) (14,279) (10,945)
Acquisition adjustment – – (6,066) (9,066) (6,066) (9,066)
Investments – 283 (7,354) (3,980) (7,354) (3,696)
Claims handling costs on outstanding claims 12,586 10,305 – – 12,586 10,305
Employee benefits 6,609 5,605 – 6,609 5,605
Provisions 9 113 – – 9 113
Other items 2,252 2,289 – – 2,252 2,289
Tax offsets carried forward 12,818 – – – 12,818 –
Tax losses recognised 14,032 22,690 – – 14,032 22,690
Tax assets/(liabilities) 48,306 41,285 (27,699) (23,991) 20,607 17,294
Set off of tax (27,699) (23,991) 27,699 23,991 – –
Net tax assets/(liabilities) 20,607 17,294 – – 20,607 17,294
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 RACQ Group

 
2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Freehold land  
At cost 20,830 20,830
 20,830 20,830
Buildings  
At cost 16,728 16,728
Accumulated depreciation (4,733) (4,315)
 11,995 12,413
Plant and equipment  
At cost 92,589 84,878
Accumulated depreciation (50,291) (41,303)
 42,298 43,575
Capital works in progress  
At cost 1,614 1,526
  
Total property, plant and equipment net book value 76,737 78,344

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:

Freehold land   
Carrying amount at beginning of year 20,830 20,830
Additions – –
Disposals – –
Carrying amount at end of year 20,830 20,830
  
Buildings  
Carrying amount at beginning of year 12,413 12,620
Disposals – –
Additions – –
Depreciation (418) (207)
Carrying amount at end of year 11,995 12,413
  
Plant and equipment  
Carrying amount at beginning of year 43,575 44,641
Additions 1,693 2,315
Transfer from capital works in progress 6,978 563
Disposals (969) (682)
Depreciation (8,979) (3,262)
Carrying amount at end of year 42,298 43,575
  
Capital works in progress  
Carrying amount at beginning of the year 1,526 2,089
Additions 7,066 –
Transfers (6,978) (563)
Carrying amount at end of year 1,614 1,526
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Valuations
An independent valuation of freehold land and buildings was carried out as at 13 December 2012 by McGees AAPI. The basis of 
valuation was open market values for its highest and best use and resulted in a valuation of $60,970,000. As the RACQ Group adopts 
the cost basis for land and buildings, the independent valuation is not recognised in these financial statements. Based on current 
circumstances there is no evidence to suggest that the carrying value of land and buildings is impaired.

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 RACQ Group

 
2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

Goodwill  
Carrying amount at beginning of year 238,927 238,927
Carrying amount at end of year 238,927 238,927
  
Software and licensing costs  
Carrying amount at beginning of year 99,340 12,079
Additions 15 –
Transfer from capital works in progress 18,015 98,016
Disposals (84) –
Amortisation (31,468) (10,755)
Carrying amount at end of year 85,818 99,340
  
Customer relationships  
Carrying amount at beginning of year 12,211 14,298
Amortisation (3,997) (2,087)
Carrying amount at end of year 8,214 12,211
  
Outstanding claims fair value adjustment  
Carrying amount at beginning of year 17,666 21,265
Amortisation (6,002) (3,599)
Carrying amount at end of year 11,664 17,666
  
Capital works in progress  
Carrying amount at beginning of year 15,380 104,496
Additions 9,843 8,900
Transfer from capital works in progress (18,015) (98,016)
Carrying amount at end of year 7,208 15,380
  
Total intangibles net book value 351,831 383,524
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Amortisation	and	impairment	charge
The amortisation of software and licensing costs, customer relationships and outstanding claims fair value adjustment are recognised  
in the amortisation of intangible assets in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Impairment	testing	for	cash-generating	units	containing	goodwill
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and other intangible assets are allocated to significant cash generating units (CGU). 
The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each CGU are as follows:

 RACQ Group

 
2014 
$’000

2013 
$’000

RACQ Insurance Limited 238,208 238,208
Other CGU without significant goodwill 719 719
Carrying amount at end of year 238,927 238,927

The recoverable amount of the RACQ Insurance Limited CGU was based on its value in use and was determined by discounting  
the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the CGU. Value in use for 2014 was determined in a similar manner 
as in 2013. The recoverable amount of $787,795,000 (June 2013: $965,934,000) exceeded the carrying amount. No impairment 
loss has been recognised for the year to June 2014 (no impairment loss was recognised for six months to June 2013). 

Key assumptions used in discounted cash flow projections
Key assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable amounts are discount rates, terminal value growth rates and EBITDA growth. 
These assumptions are as follows:

              Discount Rate
             Terminal Value        
              Growth Rate

       Budgeted Average 
        EBITDA Growth Rate

 
2014 

%
2013 

%
2014 

%
2013 

%
2014 

%
2013 

%
RACQ Insurance Limited 10.6 9.8 2.5 2.5 (2.0) 1.5

The discount rate is a post-tax measure estimated based on past experience, and industry average weighted average cost of capital.

A long-term growth rate into perpetuity has been determined that does not exceed the long term average growth rate for the industry.

Five years of cash flows were included in the discounted cash flow model. Budgeted EBITDA is expressed as the compound  
annual growth rate in the initial five years of the plan used for impairment testing and has been based on past experience, with 
adjustments where future activities are expected to differ materially from past performance. A reasonably possible change in any  
of these assumptions would not cause impairment.

15 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 RACQ Group

 
2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Trade payables 29,830 32,677
Other payables and accruals 8,970 8,890
Total trade and other payables 38,800 41,567
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16 UNEARNED REVENUE

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Balance at the beginning of the period 334,315 328,313
Insurance premiums written during the period 702,135 342,810
Insurance premiums earned during the period (693,788) (336,808)
Balance at the end of the period 342,662 334,315
  
Unearned member subscriptions 67,373 65,086
  

Total unearned revenue 410,035 399,401

17 OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY

RACQ Group

2014 
$’000

2013
$’000

Gross outstanding claims liability
Central estimate 664,242 670,474
Claims handling costs 39,678 33,813
 703,920 704,287
Discount to present value (47,300) (45,546)
Risk margin 136,834 130,856
  

Gross outstanding claims liability 793,454 789,597

  

Current 252,788 285,554

Non-current 540,666 504,043

Gross outstanding claims liability 793,454 789,597

Process	for	determining	risk	margin
The risk margin was last reviewed in 2010 and remains unchanged. It was determined by allowing for diversification between the 
different portfolios and the relative uncertainty of the outstanding claims estimate for each portfolio. Uncertainty was analysed for 
each portfolio taking into account potential uncertainties relating to the robustness of the various valuation models and the underlying 
assumptions, reliability and volume of data available, past claims experience, characteristics of the classes of business written, and 
industry and market conditions. In respect of catastrophe claims breaching the reinsurance retention for the Personal Insurance class 
of business, no risk margin has been applied against the net outstanding claims provision. This methodology has been applied as the 
ultimate cost to the RACQ Group will not be greater than the reinsurance retention.

Although the risk margin for each product has not changed relative to the prior year, the overall rate has increased due to a change  
in the product mix.

The assumptions regarding uncertainty for each class of business were applied to the net central estimates, and the results were 
aggregated, allowing for diversification in order to arrive at an overall provision. The overall provision is intended to have a probability 
of sufficiency of around 90%. The current period’s intended probability of sufficiency is 92.5% (2013: 92.5%).
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17 OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (CONTINUED)

2014 2013
% %

Risk margins applied
Personal insurance 19.8 20.4 
Compulsory third party 28.0 28.0 
Overall margin allowing for diversification 27.3 27.2 

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Reconciliation of movement in discounted net outstanding claims liability
Opening net outstanding claims liability 600,499 613,066
Prior periods
Claim payments (149,762) (93,397)
Discount unwind 12,448 6,229
Margin release on prior periods (32,437) (19,942)

Incurred claims due to changes in central estimate basis (71,348) (47,159)

Change in discount rate 391 (1,946)

Change in reinsurance on paid claims 337 (596)

Current period

Net central estimate for current period 206,516 121,047

Net change in reinsurance on paid claims 2,972 (6,631)

Risk margin on current period net outstanding claims 53,880 29,828

Closing net outstanding claims liability 623,496 600,499

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 169,958 189,098

Gross outstanding claims liability 793,454 789,597

For the prior year comparative, the movement in the discounted net outstanding claims liability is for the period from 1 January 2013 
to 30 June 2013. For the current financial year, the movement in the discounted net outstanding claims liability is for the full year from 
1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014.
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17 OUTSTANDING CLAIMS LIABILITY (CONTINUED)

Claims	development	table
The following table shows the development of undiscounted outstanding CTP claims relative to the ultimate expected claims for the 
ten most recent accident years. Amounts are net of reinsurance and third party recoveries.

Accident year
2005 
$’000

2006 
$’000

2007 
$’000

2008 
$’000

2009 
$’000

2010 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Estimate of 
ultimate CTP 
claims cost:
At end of 
accident year 90,030 86,677 87,324 104,274 128,121 141,773 142,364 151,082 155,584 169,894 169,894
One year later 82,355 71,800 89,260 118,931 126,314 125,709 127,401 125,922 139,620 – 139,620
Two years later 72,255 73,307 95,504 113,563 115,878 106,930 109,551 108,925 – – 108,925
Three years later 69,468 71,982 90,036 104,023 114,709 103,765 100,982 – – – 100,982
Four years later 62,745 66,897 79,962 99,092 114,222 94,433 – – – – 94,433
Five years later 57,890 64,216 82,862 96,750 108,595 – – – – – 108,595
Six years later 55,229 65,897 85,012 93,854 – – – – – – 93,854
Seven years later 52,232 63,601 86,168 – – – – – – – 86,168
Eight years later 51,976 63,574 – – – – – – – – 63,574
Nine years later 52,198 – – – – – – – – – 52,198
Current 
estimate of 
cumulative 
claims cost 52,198 63,574 86,168 93,854 108,595 94,433 100,982 108,925 139,620 169,894 1,018,243
Cumulative 
payments (49,154) (68,688) (82,456) (83,292) (99,050) (71,488) (62,437) (39,433) (13,444) (1,138) (570,580)
Net 
outstanding 
claims – 
undiscounted 3,044 (5,114) 3,712 10,562 9,545 22,945 38,545 69,492 126,176 168,756 447,663
Discount (33,256)
CHE 34,459
2004 and prior 3,767
Outstanding claims – CTP 452,633
Outstanding claims – personal insurance 34,029
Risk margin 136,834
Total net outstanding claims 623,496

As other personal insurance (comprising Motor, House and Pleasurecraft) is all short tail, the majority of claims are settled within a 
twelve month period and therefore, there is no material claim developments beyond a one year timeframe that require disclosure.

The 2006 net outstanding claims – undiscounted is negative due to $7.2m in recoveries remaining outstanding at balance date. Once 
received, this will reduce total cumulative payments to $161,454m and increase net outstanding claims – undiscounted to $2,120m.
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18 LIABILITY ADEQUACY TEST

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Unearned premium liability 342,662 334,315
Related deferred acquisition costs (33,756)    (33,489)
Related reinsurance asset         (1) –
 308,905 300,826
Central estimate of present value of expected future cash flows arising from future claims 287,744 281,192
Risk margin 20,840 20,333
Present value of expected future cash inflows arising from reinsurance recoveries on future claims     (14,205)     (12,047)

 (294,379) 289,478

Net surplus 14,526 11,348

The risk margin adopted in 2014 is 7.6% (2013: 9.5%). The risk margin applied in the calculation of the present value of expected 
future cash flows arising from future claims is intended to achieve a 75% probability of sufficiency. This differs from the 92.5% 
probability of sufficiency used in the calculation of the outstanding claims liability. The 75% level of sufficiency is considered appropriate 
given the purpose and nature of the test, which is to test the sufficiency of the net premium liabilities and to highlight deficiencies in 
product pricing. 

The liability adequacy test has been performed on a single personal lines basis. The 75% basis is a recognised industry benchmark  
in Australia, being the minimum probability of sufficiency required for Australian licensed insurers by APRA. 

19 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Current
Salaries & wages accrued 3,532 1,647
Liability for annual leave 11,935 12,082
Liability for long service leave 8,307 7,680
 23,774 21,409
Non-current  
Liability for long service leave 4,146 3,624

 4,146 3,624

Defined	benefit	superannuation	plan
The RACQ Group has a defined benefit superannuation plan in which defined benefit members receive lump sum benefits on 
retirement, death, disablement and withdrawal based on their final salary.

The defined benefit superannuation plan is closed to new members with all new members receiving defined contribution benefits.

An actuarial assessment of the defined benefit superannuation plan as at 30 June 2014 was carried out by Ms N Seccombe, FIAA, 
in July 2014. The actuary concluded that the assets of the defined benefit superannuation plan were sufficient to meet all benefits 
payable in the event of the defined benefit superannuation plan’s termination, or the voluntary or compulsory termination of 
employment of each employee of the RACQ Group and certain related entities.

No material curtailments or settlements occurred during the year to 30 June 2014.
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19 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
RACQ Group

12 months to
June 2014

6 months to 
June 2013

Defined benefit cost $’000 $’000

Current service cost 339 198

Net interest on the net defined benefit asset (97) (28)

Defined benefit cost recognised in the income statement 242 169

  
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit asset (619) (2,424)

Defined benefit cost recognised in other comprehensive income (619) (2,424)

  

Total defined benefit cost (377) (2,255)

Defined benefit plan sponsored by the Company (either individually or jointly with other entities in the RACQ Group and 
other related parties)

Plan assets  
at fair
value
$’000

Present value 
of obligations

$’000

Surplus/
(deficiency)

$’000

Total
vested

benefits
$’000

RACQ Superannuation Fund June 2014 17,793 14,412 3,381 13,600
RACQ Superannuation Fund June 2013 19,604 16,944 2,660 14,500

RACQ Group
12 months to

June 2014
6 months to 

June 2013
Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation $’000 $’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation at start of year 16,944 18,080

Current service cost 339 198

Interest cost 600 275

Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from experience 81 (1,174)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 541 (510)

Member contributions 223 134

Benefits and tax paid (4,316) (60)

Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 14,412 16,944

RACQ Group
12 months to

June 2014
6 months to 

June 2013
Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets $’000 $’000

Fair value of plan assets at start of year 19,604 18,286

Expected interest income 697 304

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 1,242 740

Employer contributions 343 199
Member contributions 223 134

Benefits and tax paid (4,316) (60)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 17,793 19,604

The actual return on plan assets for the year ended 30 June 2014 was $1,938,394 (2013: $1,044,434).



79R A C Q  2 0 1 3 / 1 4  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

19 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

RACQ Group
12 months to 

June 2014
6 months to  

June 2013
Principal actuarial assumptions % %
Discount rate 3.1 3.8
Salary increase rate 5.0 5.0

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit superannuation plan liabilities is around 6 years and therefore the yield available 
on the 6-year Commonwealth Government bonds has been considered in determining the discount rate. Effective 30 June 2014, the 
6-year Commonwealth government bond yield was 3.1%.

The expected salary increase rate of 5.0% per annum is consistent the assumption used in the 2013 actuarial review.

RACQ Group
12 months to 

June 2014
6 months to  

June 2013
Asset allocation of plan assets % %
Australian equities 22 22
International equities 19 19
Property 9 9
Alternatives/other 4 4
Fixed interest 36 36
Cash 10 10
Total 100 100

The fair value of plan assets does not include amounts relating to the RACQ Group’s own financial instruments, property or other 
assets used by the RACQ Group.

RACQ Group
0.5% 

increase
0.5% 

decrease
Sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the significant assumptions $’000 $’000
Discount rate (375) 404
Future salary increases 317 (303)

It is expected that $319,924 in employer contributions and $186,279 in member contributions will be made to the defined benefit 
superannuation plan in 2014/15.
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20 RESERVES

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Investment revaluation reserve 10,097 7,669
Total reserves 10,097 7,669

Reconciliation of movements during the period
Investment revaluation reserve

Balance at the beginning of period 7,669 6,971
Increase/(decrease) in market value of available-for-sale financial assets during period (net of tax) 2,428 698

Total reserves 10,097 7,669

Investment	revaluation	reserve
As a result of the nomination of ‘other investments’ being as available-for-sale assets, cumulative net changes in fair value of these 
assets other than impairments are adjusted through this reserve.

21 LEASES AND COMMITMENTS

Operating	lease	expense	commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments not provided for in the financial statements and payable:

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Within one year 3,988 4,024 
One year or later and no later than five years 10,069 12,646 
Later than five years 2,141 2,535 

16,198 19,205 

The RACQ Group leases property under operating leases that expire within seven years. Some lease payments are increased at the 
time of renewal to reflect market rentals. Some of the leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in a local 
price index. During the year to June 2014 operating lease expense of $4,052,422 was recognised (2013: $1,953,615).

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Capital expenditure commitments
Contracted but not provided for and payable:
Within one year 31,162 9,315
  
Operating lease revenue as lessor  
Future revenues not provided for in the financial statements and receivable:  
Within one year 1,416 1,711 
One year or later and no later than five years 5,857 1,995 

7,273 3,706 
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21 LEASES AND COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

Operating	lease	expense	commitments	(continued)
The RACQ Group is the lessor for a number of retail facilities under operating leases. The leases run for periods between one  
to five years with options to renew after those dates. Lease receipts are increased at the time of renewal to reflect market rentals.  
The leases provide for additional rent receipts that are based on changes in a local price index. During the year to June 2014 rental 
income of $1,397,278 was recognised in surplus (2013: $714,636).

Direct operating expenses including repairs and maintenance associated with holding these investment properties during the year 
ended 30 June 2014 were $478,615 (2013: $210,483).

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview
The RACQ Group has exposure to insurance risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk from its operating activities and use of 
financial instruments.

This note presents information about the RACQ Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The risk 
management approach of the RACQ Group is defined by the discrete consideration of activities that are subject to external regulatory 
oversight as distinct from the risks which exist in other controlled entities. External regulatory oversight applies to wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Club Insurance Holdings Pty Limited (CIH) and RACQ Insurance Limited (RACQ Insurance). CIH has been established 
for the sole purpose of holding the interest in RACQ Insurance and monitoring its operational performance. CIH and RACQ 
Insurance form a Level 2 Insurance Group for the purpose of prudential regulation. As such the information for these entities  
is consolidated for regulatory and management purposes. 

Based on the framework established, risk management within the RACQ Group is therefore the responsibility of the boards of the 
Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited, CIH and RACQ Insurance. Each board has established committees, which assist 
the respective boards in developing and monitoring risk management policies. These committees report regularly to their Boards of 
Directors on their activities.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the RACQ Group, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risk and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions and the RACQ Group’s activities. The RACQ Group, through its management standards and procedures, aims 
to develop a control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

The committees responsible for risk management oversee how management monitors compliance with relevant risk management 
policies and procedures, and review the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the respective 
activities. The committees are assisted in their oversight roles by the RACQ Group internal auditors. The RACQ Group internal 
auditors undertake both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported 
to the relevant committees.

Insurance	risk

(i) Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk
All insurance activities conducted by the RACQ Group are carried on by RACQ Insurance and CIH (the Level 2 Insurance Group), 
which is subject to prudential standards issued by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA). 

In accordance with Prudential Standard GPS 220 Risk Management issued by APRA, the Boards of Directors of CIH and RACQ 
Insurance, in conjunction with responsible management, have developed, implemented and maintained a Risk Management Strategy 
(RMS) for both RACQ Insurance and the Level 2 Insurance Group.

The aim of the RMS is to ensure that both RACQ Insurance and the Level 2 Insurance Group have in place prudent risk management 
systems to effectively identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor all key risks that the RACQ Group faces through its insurance operations.

The boards and management have the responsibility to ensure the assets of the RACQ Group are safeguarded from risk, provide 
employees with a safe working environment and ensure that RACQ Insurance is able to meet its obligations to policyholders as and 
when they fall due.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Insurance	risk	(continued)

(i) Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk (continued)
The CIH and RACQ Insurance Boards of Directors are responsible for reviewing their respective RMS annually to ensure that they 
provide adequate frameworks to monitor operating circumstances that may impact on the risk profile. The Boards of Directors  
of CIH and RACQ Insurance certify each year to APRA that the respective entities have systems in place to ensure compliance  
with legislative and prudential requirements and that the Boards of Directors have satisfied themselves as to the adequacy of,  
and compliance with, each organisation’s risk management arrangements.

The key components of the RMSs that aim to mitigate insurance risk include:

• Underwriting operations are managed in accordance with underwriting rules and guidelines, with regular quality assessment and 
monitoring of operations. Each individual policyholder pays a premium that is based on their relative risk in comparison to other 
policyholders;

• Claims operations are managed in accordance with claims handling rules and guidelines, with regular quality assessment and 
monitoring of operations. These include, among other factors, delegations of authority for acceptance and approval of claims, 
review processes for claim payments and processes for accurate initial and ongoing claims provisioning; and

• A Liability Valuation Strategy ensures that the RACQ Group’s insurance liabilities are measured in accordance with the Insurance 
Act 1973 and the provisions of APRA prudential standard GPS 320 Actuarial and Related Matters.

In addition to the RMS’, the RACQ Group has developed, implemented and maintained a Reinsurance Management Strategy (ReMS). 
The ReMS has been developed in accordance with GPS 230 Reinsurance Management issued by APRA.

RACQ Insurance has in place comprehensive reinsurance arrangements to increase the capacity to underwrite new insurance 
business and, at the same time, reduce the volatility of operating performance. The ReMS documents the reinsurance processes and 
arrangements that RACQ Insurance has in place to provide the necessary security and liquidity to meet its obligations to policyholders 
and, hence, provide protection to the assets of RACQ Insurance and ultimately the RACQ Group.

The key components of the ReMs that aim to mitigate insurance risk include:

• The purchase of adequate reinsurance, up to the maximum policy limitations, for each distinct product line. In respect of 
natural peril risk an annual probabilistic modelling process is undertaken to guide the setting of the upper limit of the catastrophe 
reinsurance program. This modelling calculates a Probable Maximum Loss (PML) at various return periods. The board sets a 
return period through the annual risk appetite setting process, with this currently set at least to a one in 250 year return period, 
based on a ‘Whole of Portfolio, All Perils’ basis. The board considers the outputs of the modelling on annual basis and uses this as 
a key input to the setting of the catastrophe program upper limit;

• In respect of the retention levels of the respective reinsurance placements, consideration is given, among other factors, to current 
reinsurance pricing capacity and past claims experience;

• Consideration is given to the credit ratings of reinsurers, with an annual review of minimum allowable ratings and regular 
monitoring of current participants to ensure compliance with minimum standards; and 

• The reinsurance program is spread across major reinsurance markets to avoid over dependency on any one market and to 
generate innovation and competition for business.

From 1 January 2013 APRA requires all insurers to hold reinsurance for catastrophic events that have a PML over a return period 
of 1 in 200 years, at a minimum (GPS 116 Capital Adequacy: Insurance Concentration Risk Charge). RACQ Insurance’s 2013/2014 
Catastrophe Reinsurance Programme was placed in accordance with its ReMS requirement of covering a PML with a return period of 
one in 250 years and, therefore RACQ Insurance has reinsurance coverage above the APRA minimum.

(ii) Terms and conditions of insurance contracts
RACQ Insurance has developed and maintains a standard insurance contract for all insurance policies. The terms and conditions 
of these insurance contracts are based upon legislative requirements as stipulated within the Insurance Contracts Act 1984. RACQ 
Insurance utilises these standard contracts for all insurance policies entered into between RACQ Insurance and its policy holders.  
No special terms are entered into with any policyholder that has a material impact upon the consolidated financial statements.
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(iii) Concentration of insurance risk
RACQ Insurance aims to reduce its exposure to concentration of insurance risk by maintaining a balanced diversified portfolio across 
both short tail (Personal Insurance) and long tail (Compulsory Third Party) classes of business. Concentration within the classes is also 
monitored to ensure excessive levels of exposure to certain perils and/or geographical regions are within desired levels.

The largest risk faced in respect of concentration is the risk of natural catastrophes. As documented within the ReMs, all risks are 
aggregated via postcode and then modelled with commercial catastrophe modelling tools to evaluate the single largest risk, or PML.

The largest insurance risk is tropical cyclone wind induced damage in the south-east corner of Queensland. The PML, as calculated 
by the catastrophe models for this event is used as a key input into the board’s determination of the upper limit for the catastrophe 
reinsurance program. 

Credit	risk	
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the RACQ Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the RACQ Group’s investment securities, future claims on reinsurance contracts 
and other insurance-related recoveries from third parties. 

The RACQ Group manages credit risk through the use of a Credit Management Strategy. This strategy aims to reduce the exposure 
to credit default by ensuring the RACQ Group invests in secure assets, contracts with financially sound reinsurers and monitors all 
funds owed on a timely basis. Exposure to credit risk is monitored on a regular basis. 

(i) Investment securities
The RACQ Group has investment policies in place that detail the investment strategies, the investments the RACQ Group is 
allowed to invest in, and the investment portfolio structures that detail the share of each investment class in the investment portfolio. 
According to the policy the RACQ Group invests in:

• Equity securities;

• Fixed interest securities; and

• Investment properties.

The RACQ Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in fixed interest securities that comply with board-approved 
credit rating exposure limits that are reviewed on a regular basis. Given these exposure limits management does not expect any 
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 

(ii) Receivables
The credit risk associated with the reinsurance arrangements is managed within RACQ Insurance and is regularly monitored by the 
Senior Executive Committee of RACQ Insurance and by specialised reinsurance brokers operating within the international reinsurance 
market. The credit risk to reinsurers is managed through RACQ Insurance having a pre-determined policy on the appropriate credit 
rating a reinsurer must have to participate in the reinsurance program. RACQ Insurance does not expect any counterparties to fail 
to meet their obligations given their credit ratings. Reinsurance is placed with companies with Standard and Poor’s credit ratings of 
‘A minus’ or better. Over concentration of credit risk is avoided by placement of cover with a number of reinsurers. Reinsurance 
contracts include a provision that protects RACQ Insurance in the event of a downgrade below ‘A minus’ whereby that individual 
reinsurer can be replaced.

The credit risk from other insurance-related recoveries with third parties arises from the issuing of recovery action against individual 
counterparties. Following the identification of a recovery, the debt is monitored and pursued to ensure receipt or to assess 
recoverability where difficulties arise. A provision for impairment, based on historical patterns of default, is maintained on a collective 
basis for these recoveries. 

(iii) Exposure to credit risk

RACQ Group is not materially exposed to any individual or company that, in the event of a credit default, would materially impact 
surplus or deficiency. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, net of any 
provision for impairment. 
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22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(iii) Exposure to credit risk (continued)

The table below provides information regarding the credit risk exposure of the RACQ Group’s financial assets by Standard & Poor’s 
credit rating:

AAA
$’000 

AA+ to AA-
$’000

A+ to A-
$’000

Below A- 
$’000

Not rated
$’000

Total
$’000

June 2014

Cash and cash equivalents 19,883 6,351 – – 64 26,298
Debt securities 533,970 398,596 204,839 1,024 – 1,138,429
Trade and other receivables – – – – 153,991 153,991
Reinsurance recoveries – 39,749 36,189 – – 75,938
Other recoveries* 45,353 – – – 48,667 94,020
Deposits and bills 104,551 141,829 83,541 – 4,057 333,978

703,757 586,525 324,569 1,024 206,779 1,822,654

June 2013

Cash and cash equivalents – 17,341 19,326 – 57 36,724
Debt securities 606,649 355,844 55,679 1,002 – 1,019,174
Trade and other receivables – – – – 150,801 150,801
Reinsurance recoveries – 42,158 57,508 – – 99,666
Other recoveries* 46,553 – – – 42,879 89,432
Deposits and bills – 199,981 53,596 30,211 4,034 288,182

654,710 615,377 186,469 31,213 196,210 1,683,979

* Net of a provision for impairment

(iv) Impairment losses
The table below shows an analysis of the age of reinsurance and other recoveries on paid claims, net of any provision for impairment. 
For the purposes of this table, past due/overdue represent more than 30 days past the contractual due date.

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
0 to 6  

months
6 to 12 
months

12 to 24 
months

Greater 
than 24 
months Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2014

Reinsurance recoveries  
on paid claims 

8,425 – – – – 8,425

Other recoveries  
on paid claims*

42,560 5,449 2,913 2,163 5,656 58,741

 50,985 5,449 2,913 2,163 5,656 67,166
2013
Reinsurance recoveries  
on paid claims 

11,735 – – – – 11,735

Other recoveries  
on paid claims

40,080 5,131 2,743 2,037 5,327 55,318

 51,815 5,131 2,743 2,037 5,327 67,053

* Net of a provision for impairment

All other receivables are not past due or impaired.
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(iv) Impairment losses (continued)
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of receivables during the period was as follows:

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Balance at start of period 14,794 17,040
Release of provision for the period (513) (2,246)
Balance at end of the period 14,281 14,794

Liquidity	risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the RACQ Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The RACQ Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity on a daily basis to meet its liabilities 
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the RACQ 
Group’s reputation.

The RACQ Group aims to reduce the exposure to liquidity risk by ensuring the availability of sufficient funds to meet policyholder, 
employee and supplier obligations at all times. This is achieved by ensuring that investments held to match policyholder liabilities 
are matched to the expected duration of those liabilities. As part of the valuation process the average of liabilities is calculated and 
investments are then matched to this average duration. To ensure the RACQ Group has sufficient funds to meet daily obligations, 
minimum levels of cash are held within the trading bank accounts. These accounts are reviewed daily, in conjunction with obligations 
to ensure sufficient funds are maintained. 

The following table represents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities and insurance liabilities:

Less than  
1 year

1 – 3  
years

3 – 5  
years

More than  
5 years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Outstanding claims liability 252,788 316,030 136,238 88,398 793,454
Trade and other payables 38,800 – – – 38,800
Unearned revenue 410,035 – – – 410,035

701,623 316,030 136,238 88,398 1,242,289

2013
Outstanding claims liability 285,554 297,673 131,269 75,101 789,597
Trade and other payables 41,567 – – – 41,567
Unearned revenue 399,401 – – – 399,401

726,522 297,673 131,269 75,101 1,230,565

Market	risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and equity prices, will affect the RACQ Group’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

The RACQ Group manages market risk through the use of various investment management strategies.

RACQ Insurance’s investment portfolio is principally managed by a third party investment manager, in accordance with the investment 
guidelines approved by the RACQ Insurance Board of Directors. The investment guidelines are stipulated within an Investment 
Mandate, which provides the investment rules for asset selection, credit worthiness, maximum exposures to single counterparties and 
performance benchmarks.

The RACQ Group, through its Group Investment Committee, reviews and approves the investment management strategies and 
investment mandates at least annually. 
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Market	risk	(continued)
The performance of all investment managers (both external and internal), including compliance with investment guidelines stipulated 
within the investment strategies and mandates, is reviewed on a regular basis by management, the Group Investment Committee and 
the Boards of Directors.

(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the revaluation of interest bearing securities held by the RACQ Group. The underlying objective of the 
insurance investment portfolios is to immunise the insurance operating result from volatility arising from interest rate movements, 
noting that the insurance liabilities are discounted using the risk-free rate. 

Insurance investment portfolios are subject to mismatch risk if the investments backing the insurance liabilities have a different risk profile, 
both duration and credit, as compared to the insurance liabilities. To mitigate this risk, the insurance investments are held at an average 
duration that broadly matches the average duration of a corresponding outstanding claims liability provision. Within the insurance 
business, the use of an average duration can expose investment portfolios to dispersion risk, where the underlying components of the 
assets and liabilities are not matched. To reduce dispersion risk the investment manager provides a comparison of assets and liabilities 
across an annual time series. This is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that duration and/or dispersion risk is within the RACQ 
Group’s risk appetite.

The RACQ Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for classes of financial assets is set 
out below:

Weighted 
Average 
Interest 

Rate

Less than  
1 year
$’000

1 – 2 
years
$’000

2 – 3 
years
$’000

3 – 4 
years
$’000

4 – 5 
years
$’000

More 
than  

5 years
$’000

Total
$’000

June 2014

Cash 2.56% 26,298 26,298
Investments
Floating Rate 3.63% 48,291 53,542 65,295 43,161 14,537 959 225,785
Fixed Rate 4.58% 407,272 349,405 124,365 216,002 74,136 75,439 1,246,619
Total  481,861 402,947 189,660 259,163 88,673 76,398 1,498,702

June 2013

Cash 2.38% 36,724 – – – – – 36,724
Investments  
Floating Rate 3.70% 64,030 24,208 22,417 10,985 4,446 446 126,532
Fixed Rate 4.69% 414,189 126,766 262,770 57,647 234,883 84,567 1,180,823
Total  514,943 150,974 285,187 68,632 239,329 85,013 1,344,080

All other classes of financial assets and liabilities that have been recognised on the Consolidated Balance Sheet are non-interest bearing.

(ii) Basis risk
The outstanding insurance claims provisions are discounted at the risk-free rate while the insurance investments are benchmarked 
against an index comprised of government, semi-government and corporate interest-bearing securities. Where these two distinct 
series of interest rates or yield curves move in different proportions, any offsetting adjustment will not be matched, leading to an 
adverse or favourable impact on the overall insurance result. This risk is defined as credit spread risk and is most relevant for the CTP 
insurance result.

(iii) Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity of surplus/(deficiency) after tax and equity reserves to possible movements in interest rates in relation to interest-
bearing financial assets held at the reporting date is shown in the table below. This analysis assumes that a change in interest rates 
results in a parallel shift in the yield curve and that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis as 
in 2013.
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Market	risk	(continued)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis (continued)
The following sensitivity analysis shows the impact on the cash and fixed interest portfolios of a 1% decrease in interest rates with the 
CTP technical reserves portfolio representing the most material impact. The corresponding impact on the CTP outstanding claims 
provisions of a 1% decrease in interest rates is a strengthening of $14.2m (2013: $10.5m) as detailed in Note 2 (c) General insurance 
activities – Actuarial assumptions and methods. This analysis shows that an equal move in interest rates results in a benefit to the 
CTP insurance result. If these rates did not move equally the resulting impact on the outstanding claims provision and/or insurance 
investment portfolio would differ, leading to an adverse/favourable impact on surplus. 

Movement in 
variable

Impact to 
investment 

income  
before tax

Surplus/
after tax

Equity 
Reserves

$’000 $’000 $’000
2014  
Recognised amounts as per the financial statements 90,176 10,097
Assets invested to support:  
CTP technical reserves -1% 15,579  
Personal Insurance technical reserves -1% 543  
Shareholders’ funds -1% 2,774  
Other interest bearing financial instruments -1% 7,553  
Total 26,449 103,403 15,384

     
2013  
Recognised amounts as per the financial statements 36,030 7,669
Assets invested to support:  
CTP technical reserves -1% 18,773  
Personal Insurance technical reserves -1% 2,369  
Shareholders’ funds -1% 2,978  
Other interest bearing financial instruments -1% 5,553  
Total  29,673 52,914 11,556

(iv) Equity price risk 
Equity price risk is the risk of loss in current and future earnings from adverse moves in equity prices and arises from available-for-sale 
equity securities. Any overall downturn in the equities market may impact on the current and future results of the RACQ Group. 
Equity risk is managed by incorporating a diverse holding of blue-chip equities. 100% (2013: 98.74%) of the market value of the 
equity securities portfolio comprises stock that forms part of the Standard & Poor’s ASX 200 Index. For such investments classified 
as available-for-sale, a 1% increase in the ASX 200 index at the reporting date would have increased equity reserves by $230,172 
(2013: $202,657); an equal change in the opposite direction would have decreased equity reserves by $ 230,171.52 (2013: 
$202,657). This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2013 and assumes all other variables remain the same.

(v) Other market price risks
Investments in property are restricted to direct property investments, unlisted property trusts or listed property trusts. All property 
investments must adhere to the investment property guidelines approved by the Board that are reviewed on a regular basis.

(vi) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the group’s processes, 
personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks, such as those arising 
from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. 

The RACQ Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the 
RACQ Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness whilst avoiding control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.
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Market	risk	(continued)

(vi) Operational risk (continued)
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior 
management within each department. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall RACQ Group standards for  
the management of operational risk in the following areas:

• Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions;

• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;

• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;

• Documentation of controls and procedures;

• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to  
address the risks identified;

• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;

• Development of contingency plans, including business continuity;

• Training and professional development;

• Ethical and business standards; and

• Risk mitigation, including insurance and reinsurance where this is effective.

Capital	management
The Board of Director’s policy is to hold the level of capital that is judged to be prudent and sustainable within the bounds of the 
RACQ Group’s risk appetite, the restrictions imposed by the RACQ Group’s legal structure and the fulfilment of the RACQ Group’s 
purpose. Through this policy the RACQ Group endeavours to maximise the member benefit return on capital within an acceptable 
level of risk by ensuring that the RACQ Group maintains an optimal level of reserves at an efficient opportunity cost. 

On this basis the RACQ Group aims to achieve a balance between:

(a) Maintaining sufficient capital to protect the RACQ Group from material and unexpected financial shocks;

(b) Ensuring that there is sufficient provisioning for future capital requirements; and

(c) Avoiding the holding of excessive capital, which could otherwise be put to the benefit of members.

Capital consists of total accumulated funds as shown on the consolidated balance sheet.

All insurers that conduct general insurance business in Australia are regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) 
and are required to maintain internal capital targets. The Level 2 Insurance Group has retained its capital target of 2.0 times the 
Prescribed Capital Amount (PCA), a trading range of between 1.75 and 2.15 times the PCA and a capital injection trigger point of 
within $5 million of 1.75 times the PCA, in accordance with the Internal Company Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). 

The Level 2 Insurance Group uses the standardised framework for calculating the PCA in accordance with the relevant prudential 
standards. In compliance with these standards, the Level 2 Insurance Group holds regulatory capital in excess of its Prescribed Capital 
Requirement and has satisfied all externally imposed capital requirements that it was subject to during both the current and prior 
financial year. 
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Capital	management	(continued)
The regulatory capital position of the Level 2 Insurance Group is as follows: 

The value of technical provisions required by GPS 320 Actuarial and Related Matters for prudential reporting purposes differs from 
those adopted for accounting purposes due to the fact that APRA requires a risk margin to be included at a 75% confidence level and 
for them to be valued on a discounted basis.

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Common Equity Tier 1 capital
Paid-up ordinary shares 470,890 470,890
Retained earnings brought forward 98,584 105,885
Current year's earnings 65,035 22,698
Dividends declared or paid (75,000) (30,000)
Excess technical provisions (net of tax) 67,116 62,722
 626,625 632,195
Less: Deductions  
Goodwill and other intangible assets 261,237 270,035
Common Equity Tier 1 capital 365,388 362,160
  
Tier 2 capital  
Subordinated debt 48,000 54,000
Total Tier 2 capital 48,000 54,000
  
APRA capital base 413,388 416,160
  
Prescribed capital amount (PCA)  
Insurance Risk Charge 124,488 120,101
Insurance Concentration Risk Charge 29,655 25,000
Asset Risk Charge 46,308 46,354
Asset Concentration Risk Charge – –
Operational Risk Charge 24,394 23,732
Aggregation benefit (30,864) (30,541)
Prescribed capital amount (PCA) 193,981 184,646
PCA multiple 2.13 2.25

The ICAAP Summary Statement outlines and summarises the internal capital adequacy assessment process of the Level 2 Insurance 
Group. This internal assessment process ensures that all material risks to which the Level 2 Insurance Group is exposed have been 
considered and ensures an appropriate level of capital is held against these risks which is consistent with the board’s risk appetite. 
ICAAP also ensures that there is adequate review, monitoring and reporting of actual and forecast capital position to the board on a 
monthly basis. 

Key considerations of the Level 2 Insurance Group’s ICAAP are return on capital targets, current and forecast profitability as defined 
in the annual budget process, capital structure, dividend payments, investment strategy, product mix between Personal Insurance and 
CTP and reserving strength and reinsurance arrangements. 

Incorporated within ICAAP are regular reviews of the Level 2 Insurance Group’s capital needs and risk profile. In order to quantify 
the Level 2 Insurance Group’s risk profile a Dynamic Financial Analysis is undertaken on an annual basis. These analyses incorporate a 
number of factors, such as current and future profitability, reinsurance arrangements, investment mix and insurance liability profile and 
simulate multiple scenarios to determine a range of impairment risk measures. The board of the Level 2 Insurance Group considers 
the risk of impairment measures through the annual risk appetite setting process to set a target and trading levels of capital to sustain 
the business in the event of numerous adverse impacts.
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Fair	values	of	financial	assets	and	liabilities

(i) Valuation approach
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined by the RACQ Group on the following basis:

• Listed shares, unsecured and convertible notes, and government and semi-government stocks and bonds are traded in an 
organised financial market. The fair values of all fixed interest investments, including term deposits, are based on the average 
market value of the investment, as determined by an independent fixed interest valuation service. The fair values of all other 
investments are determined by valuing them at the last trade price; and

• Monetary financial assets and financial liabilities not readily traded in an organised financial market are determined by valuing them 
at the future cash flows or amounts due to or from third parties. Cash flows are discounted using standard valuation techniques at 
the applicable market yield having regard to the timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amounts of the following financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair value as they are short term in nature:

• Cash and cash equivalents;

• Trade and other receivables; and

• Trade and other payables.

(ii) Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

RACQ Group

2014 2013

Carrying 
amount

$’000

Fair  
value
$’000

Carrying 
amount

$’000

Fair 
value
$’000

Equity securities available-for-sale 23,017 23,017 20,265 20,265
Debt securities available-for-sale 141,268 141,268 57,061 57,061
Interest bearing deposit available-for-sale 185,442 185,442 143,965 143,965
Other unlisted investments available-for-sale 8,068 8,068 8,268 8,268
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 1,145,697 1,145,697 1,106,330 1,106,330
Trade and other receivables 153,991 153,991 150,801 150,801
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable 169,958 169,958 189,098 189,098
Cash and cash equivalents 26,298 26,298 36,724 36,724
Trade and other payables (38,800) (38,800) (41,567) (41,567)
 1,814,939 1,814,939 1,670,945 1,670,945
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(iii) Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined  
as follows: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly  
(i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014  
Debt Securities – 1,138,429 – 1,138,429
Deposit and Bills 333,978 – – 333,978
Unlisted investments – – 8,068 8,068
Equities 23,017 – – 23,017
 356,995 1,138,429 8,068 1,503,492
2013  
Debt Securities – 1,019,174 – 1,019,174
Deposit and Bills 288,182 – – 288,182
Unlisted investments – – 8,268 8,268
Equities 20,265 – – 20,265

308,447 1,019,174 8,268 1,335,889

24 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

2014 2013
$ $

Audit services:
Auditors of the RACQ Group – KPMG Australia
Audit of the financial report 240,200 285,700
Other regulatory audit services 57,200 76,650
 297,400 362,350
Audit related services:  
Auditors of the RACQ Group – KPMG Australia  
Actuarial services 52,000 57,000
 52,000 57,000
Other services:  
Auditors of the RACQ Group – KPMG Australia  
Taxation services 318,912 152,749
IT Advisory services 73,664 292,763
Other advisory services 70,219 13,700
 462,795 459,212
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Interest held

2014 2013
Particulars in relation to the controlled entities % %
Parent entity
The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited 100 100
  
Controlled entities  

 RACQ Operations Pty Ltd 100 100

  The Road Ahead Publishing Co Pty Ltd 100 100

  RACQ Investments Pty Ltd 100 100
  

 RACQ Investments No.2 Pty Ltd 100 100

  Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd 100 100

  RACQ Insurance Ltd 100 100
  

 AAA Rewards Pty Ltd – 100
  

 RACQ Foundation Pty Ltd 100 100

  RACQ Foundation Fund 100 100

  RACQ Foundation Trust 100 100

The parent entity, The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited, is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital.  
In the event of winding up, members are liable to the amount of $2.10 per member. The Company has 1,296,121 (2013: 1,286,075) 
guaranteeing members.

AAA Rewards Pty Ltd was de-registered on 14 May 2014.

Shares in RACQ Operations Pty Ltd and RACQ Investments No.2 Pty Ltd are held directly by the parent entity, The Royal 
Automobile Club of Queensland Limited. RACQ Investments Pty Ltd and The Road Ahead Publishing Co Pty Ltd are held indirectly 
by the parent entity, The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited, through its 100% interest in RACQ Operations Pty Ltd.

50% of the shares in Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd are held by RACQ Investments Pty Ltd, and 50% of the shares in Club Insurance 
Holdings Pty Ltd are held by RACQ Investments No.2 Pty Ltd. The shares in RACQ Insurance Limited are held by Club Insurance 
Holdings Pty Ltd.

26 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE
Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, RACQ Operations Pty Ltd is relieved from the 
Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit, and lodgment of a financial report, and a directors’ report. 

It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries that benefit from the Class Order enter into a  
Deed of Cross Guarantee (“the Deed”). RACQ Investments Pty Ltd, RACQ Investments No.2 Pty Ltd and The Road Ahead 
Publishing Co Pty Ltd are parties to the Deed but do not require relief from the Class Order. The effect of the Deed is that the 
Company guarantees to each creditor, payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain 
provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Company 
will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also given similar 
guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.



93R A C Q  2 0 1 3 / 1 4  A N N U A L  R E P O R T

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

26 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (CONTINUED)
The subsidiaries subject to the Deed are:

• RACQ Operations Pty Ltd;

• RACQ Investments Pty Ltd;

• RACQ Investments No.2 Pty Ltd; and

• The Road Ahead Publishing Co Pty Ltd.

RACQ Insurance Ltd, RACQ Foundation Pty Ltd and Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd are not parties to the Deed.

Summarised	consolidated	statement	of	comprehensive	income	and	balance	sheet	for	parties	to	the	Deed

       Consolidated parties
       to the Deed

2014 2013 
$’000 $’000

Current assets 235,296 194,808
Non-current assets 868,027 814,881
Total assets 1,103,323 1,009,689
  
Current liabilities 117,949 124,450
Non-current liabilities 4,146 2,509
Total liabilities 122,095 126,959
  
Reserves 10,097 7,669
Retained surplus 875,060 829,711
Current period surplus 96,071 45,350
 981,228 882,730

  
Revenue 348,288 171,022
Expenses 252,217 125,672
  
Net surplus after tax 96,071 45,350

27 RELATED PARTIES

Transactions	with	key	management	personnel
No key management personnel have entered into a material contract with the Company or the RACQ Group since the end of the 
previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving key management personnel interests subsisting at 30 June 2014.

Key management personnel of the Company and RACQ Group may obtain membership and insurance services from the Company 
and/or its controlled entity, RACQ Insurance Limited, on the same terms and conditions as those obtained by Company employees 
and are trivial or domestic in nature. Key management personnel may also obtain other services and products from the Company on 
terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to members and are immaterial in nature.

There are no loans to/from key management personnel.
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Transactions	with	key	management	personnel	(continued)

RACQ Group

Key management personnel compensation

12 months 
to June 2014

$

6 months  
to June 2013

$

Key management personnel compensation comprised:

 

Short-term benefits 5,628,063    3,042,906 
Post-employment benefits 410,518     200,372 
Other long-term benefits 177,534      22,408 
Termination and other benefits 549,297 –

6,765,412    3,265,686 

The remuneration paid by RACQ Insurance Limited to RACQ directors, for their services as an RACQ Insurance Limited director 
during the year to June 2014 totalled $425,864 (six months to 30 June 2013: $238,886). Directors of all other subsidiary companies 
within the RACQ Group are not separately remunerated for their services to those subsidiary companies.

The Group Chief Executive Officer of The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited, Mr Ian A Gillespie, is a director of RACQ 
Insurance Limited and Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd. Mr Gillespie acted in his role as the nominee for The Royal Automobile Club 
of Queensland Limited and was not separately remunerated. 

Director	compensation	for	The	Royal	Automobile	Club	of	Queensland	Limited
During the period non-executive directors received the following fees for their service as directors on the boards described above 
(excluding the RACQ Insurance Limited Board). As of 1 March 2013 directors receive $85,000 per annum with additional fees paid 
for committee work and chairman responsibilities. Fees paid are inclusive of superannuation.

12 months 
to June 2014

$

6 months  
to June 2013

$
Geoffrey Leddy, Chairman* 170,744 81,667
Nigel Alexander* 86,743 40,834
Fay Barker 94,488 40,834
Campbell Charlton (appointed 22 May 2014) 13,723 –
Anthony Gambling 102,488 40,834
Dennis Howe (retired 31 December 2013) 45,988 40,834
Elizabeth Jameson 110,488 40,834
Stephen Maitland* 87,744 40,834
Bronwyn Morris* 110,393 40,834
Karl Morris 94,488 40,834
Richard Pietsch* 91,744 40,834
 1,009,031 449,173

* Director of Club Insurance Holdings Pty Ltd while also a director of RACQ Insurance Limited.

In addition to fees and insurance, directors received other benefits, including travel and accommodation. Total other benefits received 
during the year to June 2014, in aggregate, amounted to $17,140 (six months to 30 June 2013: $9,651).
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Director	compensation	for	RACQ	Insurance	Limited
Directors of the Company who are also directors of RACQ Insurance Limited are paid fees by RACQ Insurance Limited.  
This remuneration is supplementary to the remuneration paid by the Company. As of 1 March 2013 board fees have been 
restructured such that directors of RACQ Insurance Limited who also sit on The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited 
board receive $80,000 per annum and directors who do not sit on The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited board receive 
$110,000 per annum. Additional fees are paid for committee work and chairman responsibilities. Fees paid are inclusive  
of superannuation.

During the period non-executive directors received the following fees for their service as directors of RACQ Insurance Limited.  
Fees are inclusive of the services delivered for board and committee responsibilities.

12 months 
to June 2014

$

6 months  
to June 2013

$
Nigel Alexander, Chairman (appointed Chairman on 1 January 2014) 135,744 58,078
Neville Ide 141,488 60,602
Raymond Jones 139,498 60,602
Geoffrey Leddy 80,744 45,125
Stephen Maitland 98,744 50,602
Bronwyn Morris 29,888 –
Richard Pietsch 80,744 85,082
Vyn Tozer 129,488 69,032

836,338 429,123

There were no other benefits received by directors during the year to June 2014 (six months to 30 June 2013: $3,293).

28 DIVIDENDS

Dividend	franking	account
Balance of franking account adjusted for franking credits that will arise from the payment of income tax provided for in the  
financial statements.

RACQ Group

12 months 
to June 2014

$’000

6 months  
to June 2013

$’000
Class C 30% (June 2013: 30%) franking credits – Company 77,069 74,203
Class C 30% (June 2013: 30%) franking credits – Subsidiaries 220,270 190,621

297,339 264,824

The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited is a company limited by guarantee and is unable under the Corporations Act to 
pay dividends and accordingly is unable to utilise or distribute the franking account credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

29 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Reconciliation	of	cash
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash as at 
the end of the financial period, as shown in the statement of cash flows, is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

RACQ Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Cash and cash equivalents 26,298 36,724

Reconciliation of operating surplus after income tax to net cash provided by operating activities 
Surplus for the period 90,176 36,030
Add/(less) items classified as investing activities  
 Deficiency/(surplus) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (20) 260
 Dividend income (1,780) (762)
 Rent received (1,397) (715)
 Interest income (63,641) (29,105)
  
Add/(less) non-cash items  
 Impairment charge on investments 199 –
 Impairment charge on receivables 17 –
 Depreciation and amortisation 51,019 19,986
 Gain on sale of investments 5,512 2,650
 Change of fair value of investments 3,512 5,826
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities before change in net assets and liabilities 83,597 34,170
  
Change in assets and liabilities  
 Inventory (289) (132)
 Trade and other receivables (3,190) (5,514)
 Reinsurance and other recoveries 19,140 (32,689)
 Prepayments (615) 598
 Deferred insurance asset (264) 33,896
 Unearned revenue 10,634 5,249
 Trade and other payables (2,767) (19,159)
 Outstanding claims liability 3,857 20,122
 Provision for employee benefits 2,887 (5,199)
 Deferred tax balances (3,313) (6,080)
 Income tax payable 5,325 9,162

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 115,002 34,424
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

30 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

The Royal Automobile Club  
of Queensland Limited

12 months 
to June 2014

6 months  
to June 2013

$’000 $’000
Surplus for the period 22,382 14,429
Other comprehensive income – –
Total comprehensive income for the period 22,382 14,429

The Royal Automobile Club  
of Queensland Limited

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Balance sheet of parent entity at period end:
Current assets 628,776 566,759
Total assets 700,083 639,665
  
Current liabilities 206,293 167,991
Total liabilities 206,293 168,257
  
Total accumulated funds of the parent entity comprising of:  
Retained surplus 493,790 471,408
Total accumulated funds 493,790 471,408

Contingent	liabilities	of	the	parent	entity:	Nil	(2013:	Nil)

Contractual	commitments	for	the	acquisition	of	property,	plant	and	equipment:	Nil	(2013:	Nil)

Parent	entity	guarantees	in	respect	of	debts	of	its	subsidiaries
The parent entity has entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with the effect that the Company guarantees debts in respect of  
its subsidiaries.

Further details of the Deed of Cross Guarantee and the subsidiaries subject to the Deed are disclosed in Note 26.

31 CONTINGENT LIABILITY
The RACQ Group has a contingent liability estimated to be $0.5 million as at 30 June 2014 (2013: Nil). It is not yet known whether 
this amount will be payable by the RACQ Group as legal proceedings in relation to this claim have only recently commenced. In the 
event that an amount is payable by the RACQ Group in relation to this matter no reimbursements will be available from third parties. 

32 EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial period and the date of this report any item, transaction or event 
of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the 
RACQ Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the RACQ Group, in future financial years.
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1. In the opinion of the directors of The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited (the “Company”):

 (a)  the consolidated financial statements and notes, set out on pages 49 to 97, are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the RACQ Group as at 30 June 2014 and of its 
performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and

  (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001; and

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

2.  There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the subsidiaries identified in Note 26 will be able to 
meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee 
between the Company and those controlled entities pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

3.  The directors draw attention to Note 1(b) to the consolidated financial statements, which include a statement of 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Geoffrey C Leddy 
Chairman

Dated at Brisbane 
this 25 September 2014

Directors’ Declaration
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We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited (the Company), 
which comprises the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2014, and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended on that date, notes 1 to 
32 comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information and the Directors’ Declaration of the 
Group comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the Directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. In 
note 1(b), the Directors also state, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, 
that the financial statements of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance  
with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating  
to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from  
material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report.  
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the 
Group’s financial position and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:
(a) the financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for the year ended  
on that date; and 

 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards  and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(b). 

 

KPMG

 

Robert Jones 
Partner

Brisbane 
25 September 2014

Independent Auditor’s Report
to the members of The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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To: the Directors of The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 there have been:

(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

 

KPMG

 

Robert Jones 
Partner

Brisbane 
25 September 2014

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration
under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.



R A C Q  2 0 1 3 / 1 4  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 101

Corporate directory

Club	Patron
Her Excellency Ms Penelope Wensley AC  
Governor of Queensland

President	and	Chairman
Geoffrey C Leddy  
BTech(Civil), LGE, GDM, FAICD

GROUP LEADERSHIP TEAM

Group	Chief	Executive	Officer 
Ian	A	Gillespie
BA, Dip Laws(BAB), FCEOI, MAICD, FAIM, CCEO

Chief	Information	Officer 
Gregory	R	Booker
MBA, MMgmnt, GAICD

RACQ	Insurance	Limited	Chief	Executive	Officer 
Bradley	P	Heath 
B.Bus Acc, GAICD

Group	Chief	Financial	Officer 
Leanne	M	Muller
BCom, GDip Fin & Inv, ACA, MAICD

Chief	Executive	Officer,	Operations 
Glenn	A	Toms
BBus, GDip Fin & Inv, FFin, FAIM, GAICD

Chief	Development	Officer 
Christopher	P	Walsh 
BCom

Auditors
KPMG 
Riparian Plaza Level 16, 71 Eagle Street Brisbane QLD 4000

Registered	Head	Office
2649 Logan Road Eight Mile Plains QLD 4113 
Telephone: 61 7 3361 2444 
Facsimile: 61 7 3341 8024 
Email: racq@racq.com.au 
Website: racq.com

Postal	Address
PO Box 4 
Springwood QLD 4127

ACN 009 660 575 
ABN 72 009 660 575

BRANCHES AND MAJOR AGENCIES

Brisbane
Browns Plains – Grand Plaza Shopping Centre

Carindale – Westfield Carindale Shopping Centre

City – 103 Adelaide Street, Brisbane

Chermside – Westfield Chermside Shopping Centre

Eight Mile Plains – RACQ Operations Centre, 2649 Logan Road

Inala – Inala Plaza

Indooroopilly – Indooroopilly Shopping Centre

Mitchelton/Brookside – Brookside Shopping Centre

Strathpine – Westfield Strathpine Shopping Centre

Upper Mt Gravatt – Westfield Garden City Shopping Centre

Other	Areas
Beenleigh – Beenleigh Mall, Main Street

Bundaberg – 249 Bourbong Street

Cairns – Stockland Shopping Centre, Earlville

Caloundra – 104 Bulcock Street

Capalaba – Shop 74, Capalaba Park Shopping Centre

Elanora – The Pines Shopping Centre, Guineas Creek Road

Gladstone – 50 Hanson Road

Gympie – Goldfields Plaza, 71 Monkland Street

Hervey Bay – Shop 10, Stockland Shopping Centre, Pialba

Ipswich – Riverlink Shopping Centre, North Ipswich

Mackay – Caneland Central, Cnr Victoria Street and 
Mangrove Road

Maroochydore – 25-33 Cornmeal Parade

Maryborough – Comet Place, 133 Lennox Street

Morayfield – Morayfield Shopping Centre, Morayfield Road

Nambour – 23-25 Currie Street

Nerang – My Centre, Station Street

Noosaville – Noosa Civic, 28 Eenie Creek Road

Redcliffe – Blue Water Square, Cnr Anzac Avenue and 
Sutton Street

Robina – Robina Town Centre, Arbour Court

Rockhampton – Red Hill Homemaker Centre,  
Yaamba Road, North Rockhampton

Runaway Bay – Oasis Shopping Centre, Oxley Drive

Southport – Australia Fair Shopping Centre

Southport West – 239 Nerang Road

Toowoomba – 176 James Street

Townsville – 202 Ross River Road, Aitkenvale

Warwick – Rose City Shopping World, Palmerin Street 



The Royal Automobile Club of Queensland Limited
ACN 009 660 575  ABN 72 009 660 575


